

The consumption of discounted close-to-date foods in the contexts of food provisioning and waste

Rebecca M. Martin

Degree project • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences MSc Sustainable food systems Molecular Sciences, 2025:02 Uppsala, 2025

The consumption of discounted close-to-date foods in the contexts of food provisioning and waste

Rebecca M. Martin

| Supervisor: | Jonas Bååth, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of people and society |
|---------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Assistant supervisor: | Rosa Hellman, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of people and society |
| Examiner: | Kes McCormick, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of people and society |
| | |
| Credits: | 30 credits |
| Level: | Second cycle, A2E |
| Course title: | Master thesis in Food science |
| Course code: | EX0875 |
| Programme/education: | The Master's Programme Sustainable Food Systems |
| Course coordinating dept: | Department of Molecular Sciences |
| Place of publication: | Uppsala |
| Year of publication: | 2025 |
| | |
| | |

| Title of series: | Molecular Sciences |
|------------------|--------------------|
| Part number: | 2025:02 |

| Copyright: | All featured images are used with permission from the copyright owner. |
|------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Keywords: | food practices, everyday life, consumption, food waste, food provisioning, Sweden |

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences Department of Molecular Sciences

Abstract

This thesis explores the consumption of food approaching its best before or use-by date marking that is purchased at a discount, (discounted close-to-date foods). The study relates to the implementation of price promotions as a food waste reduction measure at the retail level. The expansion of this phenomenon in recent years is problematised in terms of the lack of knowledge surrounding its impacts on food waste at the household level. Using a practice theoretical approach that recognises six distinct moments of consumption, the thesis used interviews to focus on the consumer experience of this phenomenon, elucidating how a group of 15 individuals living in Sweden fit these products into their everyday food provisioning practices.

The findings demonstrate that motivations of thrift encouraged the interviewees' consumption of discounted close-to-date foods and that flexibility permeated food provisioning, (e.g., planning, shopping, cooking, eating) with these items. In association with knowledge and skills related to date marking and risk, this allowed the interviewees to include discounted close-to-date foods in their everyday lives. In relation to the impacts of this consumption on household food waste, the findings depict three different scenarios in which discounted close-to-date foods are: completely used; partially used; or completely wasted.

The case is made for further research to investigate and evaluate this relatively young phenomenon. The implementation of such interventions must be supported by evidence that they reduce food waste at a food system level, not merely shift food waste to actors up- or downstream the food supply chain. This thesis illustrates the intricacies and interconnectedness of food provisioning practices, the contexts surrounding them and their role within societal issues of food waste. It contributes to research concerned with the links between retail level interventions and household level consumption whilst highlighting some of the complexities that challenge efforts to reduce food waste at these levels. Finally, the study concludes that this intervention at the retail level is reinforcing existing consumer beliefs around date markings and food quality and safety, and questions the role of retailers in contributing to systemic waste reduction.

Keywords: food practices, everyday life, food waste, food provisioning, Sweden

Acknowledgements

To my supervisors Jonas Bååth and Rosa Hellman at the Department of people and society, I can't thank you enough. Without your support, inspired insights and expert advice I would never have been able to learn so much. Thank you.

And to Mattias, your patience and tolerance during these past few months have been unquestioning, and the space you've given me has made all the difference. Thank you.

Table of contents

| Ackn | owledgements | 4 |
|------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| 1. | Introduction | 7 |
| 1.1 | Background | 7 |
| | 1.1.1 Problems with food waste | 8 |
| | 1.1.2 Food waste and discounting close-to-date foods | 8 |
| 1.2 | Aim and research question | 9 |
| 2. | Literature review | .11 |
| 2.1 | Food provisioning practices and household food waste | . 12 |
| | 2.1.1 Price involvement and food waste | . 12 |
| | 2.1.2 Planning | . 13 |
| | 2.1.3 Storage and leftovers | . 14 |
| | 2.1.4 Risk, safety and date markings | . 15 |
| | 2.1.5 Sociological approaches consider contexts | . 15 |
| 2.2 | The discounting of close-to-date foods and food provisioning practices | . 16 |
| | 2.2.1 Price involvement & shopping | . 16 |
| | 2.2.2 Consumer acceptance | . 17 |
| 2.3 | Literature review conclusion | . 18 |
| 3. | Theory | . 19 |
| 3.1 | Practice theories | . 19 |
| | 3.1.1 Practical food provisioning | .20 |
| 3.2 | Consumption and practices | .21 |
| 4. | Method | . 23 |
| 4.1 | Research approach | .23 |
| 4.2 | Recruitment of interviewees | .23 |
| 4.3 | Interviews | .24 |
| | 4.3.1 Ethical considerations | .26 |
| 4.4 | Analysis | . 26 |
| | 4.4.1 Transcription | .26 |
| | 4.4.2 Coding | .26 |
| 5. | Findings | . 28 |
| 5.1 | Consumption of close-to-date foods at the supermarket | . 28 |
| | 5.1.1 Planning | . 28 |
| | 5.1.2 The supermarket | . 30 |
| | 5.1.3 Purchase decisions | . 32 |
| | 5.1.4 In-store performances and meaning in relation to food waste mitigation | . 35 |
| 5.2 | Close-to-date foods at home | . 36 |
| | 5.2.1 Storage and deciding what to eat | . 37 |

| | 5.2.2 Cooking and eating | 39 |
|-------|----------------------------------------------------------------------|-------|
| | 5.2.3 Disposal | 41 |
| | 5.2.4 At home performances in relation to food waste mitigation | 43 |
| 5.3 | The integration of food provisioning practices through the interview | wees' |
| | performances | 43 |
| 6. | Discussion | 46 |
| 6.1 | Price involvement | 46 |
| 6.2 | Assessing edibility and storage | 48 |
| 6.3 | Discounted close-to-date foods and waste | 48 |
| 6.4 | Motivations of thrift | 49 |
| 6.5 | Limitations | 51 |
| | 6.5.1 Methodological limitations | 51 |
| | 6.5.2 Theoretical limitations | 52 |
| 7. | Conclusions | 53 |
| 7.1 | Implications | 54 |
| Refer | rences | 55 |
| Popu | lar science summary | 61 |
| Арре | ndix 1 – Recruitment flyer | 62 |
| Арре | ndix 2 – Interview guide | 63 |

1. Introduction

Close-to-date foods refers to foods approaching their best before or use-by date marking, or foods without such markings with deteriorating quality due to, for example, bruising or wilting. Moreover, in grocery retail, close-to-date implies such foods offered for a discounted price due to the seemingly small window of consumption these foods offer. This thesis studies such discounted close-to-date food offers (close-to-date foods or offers, henceforth). Such offers are a recently popularised phenomenon adopted by grocery retailers to reduce both food waste and the work required to sort food waste from its packaging. However, due to the recently increasing use of this practice, its impacts on food waste at the food systems level remain understudied. This raises questions about how close-to-date foods are fitted into everyday food consumption practices and whether they do contribute to food waste reduction, or alternatively, shift waste from retailer to households or provoke overconsumption. Focusing on the use and management of close-to-date products in household food shopping, cooking and eating, this thesis contributes to filling this knowledge gap.

To introduce this study, I provide a concise background in food waste as a global issue and an overview of the status of retail and consumer level food waste more locally to the study's geography, Sweden. The phenomenon of discounting foods nearing their best before and use-by dates is then presented. The current nature of the adoption of this phenomenon as a societal food waste reduction measure is then problematised, giving grounds to the study's aim and research question.

1.1 Background

The issue of food waste at the final stages of the food supply chain (FSC) has gained much academic and societal attention in recent years. Associated with this is the adoption of Agenda 2030, ten years ago, which includes resolutions to halve per capita food waste at the retail and consumer levels (UN 2015). Despite its burgeoning notoriety and the introduction of ambitious reduction targets (Reynolds et al. 2019), the latest figures show that high levels of food waste continue (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency 2024b; UNEP 2024).

Across the FSC, households are responsible for the largest share of food waste. Globally, in 2022, almost one-fifth of the total amount of food available for human consumption was wasted (UNEP 2024; *FAOSTAT* n.d.a). 60% of this waste was attributed to the household level, whilst the retail sector was responsible for 12% (UNEP 2024). In Sweden, 49% of food waste is generated from households, whilst waste at the retail level amounts to 6.5% of the total (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency 2024b). Techniques for measuring food waste in Sweden allow

for some nuance in this picture, showing that avoidable food waste accounts for 27% of household food waste; other factions include waste considered as inedible, such as bones, peelings and coffee grounds (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency 2024a).

1.1.1 Problems with food waste

Food waste is widely regarded as problematic. Some surplus production can be argued as necessary to safeguard against unexpected FSC disruptions (Papargyropoulou et al. 2014). However, food waste at current levels demonstrates remarkably inefficient use of natural resources (Garnett 2011; Bernstad Saraiva Schott & Andersson 2015; Crippa et al. 2021). Food production and distribution exert significant pressures on planetary systems. The global food system generates substantial greenhouse gas emissions (IPCC 2019; Rosenzweig et al. 2020, 2021; Crippa et al. 2021). In addition, agricultural activity is also a significant source of environmental change, causing degradation to soil, freshwater and ocean systems as well as to biodiversity (Foley et al. 2011; Alexander et al. 2017; Willett et al. 2019; Richardson et al. 2023). Simultaneously, in light of the lack of progress being made in eradicating hunger (UN 2024), the existence of so much superfluous food highlights the ethically questionable aspect of food waste. Climate change and geopolitical instability, including the recent economic downturn, are impacting levels of hunger across the globe (UN 2024). This includes Europe, where levels of moderate and severe food insecurity have been rising in recent years (FAOSTAT n.d.b).

1.1.2 Food waste and discounting close-to-date foods

Framed as a measure to reduce financial losses for retailers forced to adapt to the rising popularity of perishable goods, discounting close-to-date foods has long been recognised as sound business practice (Tsiros & Heilman 2005). Against the backdrop of growing exposure of food waste issues in academia and media, and in light of findings that confusion over date markings is closely tied to significant volumes of food waste at the retail level, discounting close-to-date foods has more recently been acknowledged as a food waste reduction strategy at the retail level (Parfitt et al. 2010; Halloran et al. 2014; Priefer et al. 2016; Swedish Food Agency et al. 2018). In addition, despite traditionally lacking acceptance in supermarket settings, consumer interest in so-called suboptimal foods (SOFs), including close-to-date foods, can be recovered by a reduction in price (Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2017a; de Hooge et al. 2017).

Associated interventions have helped the practice gain popularity amongst retailers. In Sweden, the introduction of legal obligations to separate unused food from its packaging upon disposal, in the name of resource recovery, has encouraged more widespread discounting of close-to-date foods (Swedish Food Agency et al. 2025). The lower commitment required by the retailer in discounting close-to-date food compared to separating it from its packaging is a probable driver of increased implementation in grocery stores (Garrone et al. 2014).

Waste reduction measures at one level of FSC must not merely shift food waste to up- or downstream actors (Swedish Food Agency et al. 2018). The discounting of close-to-date foods by retailers must therefore not exacerbate consumer food waste patterns. This poses difficulties as food waste by product group is similar at retail and consumer levels, where perishable fresh foods dominate waste contents. It follows that many foods suitable for discounting in this manner are naturally at high risk of waste at the consumer level.

Food discarded in the household is often due to overprovisioning in shopping and cooking, and improper storage. These factors lead to not using food 'in time', which is also associated with misunderstandings of food safety and date markings (Parfitt et al. 2010; WRAP 2023; Hultén et al. 2024; Swedish Environmental Protection Agency 2024a). Framed as price promotions aimed at making foods with short shelf-lives more attractive to consumers who systematically buy and cook more than they have time to eat, these factors paint a problematic picture.

Interventions tackling food waste appear to be giving mixed results. A recent survey by the Swedish Food Agency (2025) showed that consumer knowledge of simple waste mitigation tactics is improving. However, avoidable food waste generated by Swedish households has remained stable over the last few years, during which a clear downward turn has been achieved by the retail sector (physical shops) (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency 2024b). This implies that somewhere within these latter FSC stages, something in food waste reduction measures is going awry.

To summarise, recent data shows that food waste at the retail and household levels remains problematically high, despite ambitious reduction targets (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency 2024a). FSC actors must act responsibly in adopting measures so that mitigation actions at one stage of the value chain do not merely direct food waste up- or downstream (Swedish Food Agency et al. 2018). Despite this, consumer level data concerning discounted close-to-date foods are widely lacking from available empirics, especially in the form of qualitative data. This highlights the possibility that retailers are shifting food waste downstream to consumers, violating their due diligence as FSC actors.

1.2 Aim and research question

This study addresses the gap in extant research regarding whether and how closeto-date foods can reduce retail food waste without increasing household food waste. To that end, this study aims to investigate consumers' reasoning with and handling of (discounted) close-to-date foods. By realising this aim, the study contributes new insights regarding the potential effects of the discounting of close-to-date foods on food waste both at the individual and food systems levels.

In light of the widespread implementation of discounting close-to-date foods as a food waste reduction measure at the retail stage, the following research question is posed: How do consumers' everyday food provisioning practices allow for the consumption of close-to-date offers?

To answer this question, I first review the extant literature related to the phenomenon of discounting close-to-date foods. I then establish a practice theoretical basis, around which a qualitative research design is built to direct primary data collection in the form of interviews with consumers, studying their experience of close-to-date food consumption in both retail as well as household settings. Finally, the insights gathered are thematically analysed in relation to the conceptual framework and the existing literature.

2. Literature review

The following chapter reviews the extant academic literature in the research field. Literature pertaining specifically to close-to-date offers analysed largely quantitative data. These studies used surveys and choice experiments to investigate consumer perceptions of and preferences for suboptimal foods, including close-to-date items (de Hooge et al. 2017; Aschemann-Witzel 2018; Cicatiello et al. 2019; Chang et al. 2024; Tait et al. 2024) and price involvement and suitable discounting (Tsalis 2020; Amr Yassin & Soares 2021; Tait et al. 2024). Related studies reviewed that also explored quantitative data examined potential links between price promotions and household food waste (Giordano et al. 2019; Van Lin et al. 2023; Tsalis et al. 2024), associations between EU-date marking and consumers' valuation of foods (D'Amato et al. 2023) and drivers of food waste in the context of food provisioning (Stancu et al. 2016; Setti et al. 2018).

Aschemann-Witzel et al. (2017b) performed the only mixed methods study specifically on close-to-date offers used in this review, using accompanied shopping interviews and an online survey in the exploration of household food waste associated with close-to-date offers. Meanwhile, Farr-Wharton et al. (2014) used a mixed methods approach to explore the main drivers encouraging food waste at the household level.

Only one study was found that explored discounted close-to-date foods with purely qualitative data. Bech-Larsen et al. (2019) performed a multiple methods study with observations, interviews and qualitative content analysis to assess different practices that promoted or redistributed close-to-date foods. Related studies explored qualitative data that was collected in interviews and observations, including deeper ethnographic techniques. These studies examined the contexts surrounding food provisioning practices and waste (Bava et al. 2008; Evans 2011a, 2012a; b, 2018; Hebrok & Boks 2017; Holmes 2018; Dobernig & Schanes 2019; Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019).

Those taking a critical approach to studying consumption and food waste perceive that economic angles focus too heavily on the individual, leading to a narrative that loads responsibility at the consumer level. Evans (2011a), for example, condemns this and the implications it has for the effectiveness of public policy. Individualistic, economic approaches study attitudes, knowledge and skills, which are not main food waste drivers (Shove 2010; Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019). This is well illustrated in recurring accounts of study participants acknowledging their negative attitudes towards wasting food and intentions not to do so, but failing to put a stop to it, i.e., the attitude-behaviour gap (Evans 2011a, 2012a; Stancu et al. 2016; Hebrok & Boks 2017; Falasconi et al. 2019). Based on these approaches, subsequent development of interventions aimed at consumptive behavioural change

are then based widely on intention and choice, failing to consider, or considering too slightly, the individual in relation to their context.

2.1 Food provisioning practices and household food waste

In the academic literature, much effort has been spent defining the factors contributing to and mitigating avoidable household food waste. Contributing actions include lack of household planning, buying and cooking too much food, and not using up leftovers (Evans 2011a; Stancu et al. 2016; Hebrok & Boks 2017; Falasconi et al. 2019; Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019; Ananda et al. 2022; Tsalis et al. 2024). Associated factors relating to knowledge and skills include uncertainty about how to store food, misunderstanding the implications of date markings and lacking capabilities to deal with leftovers. In turn, these factors are subject to social, material and structural contexts such as busy lives, packaging and storage infrastructure in the home like cupboard and fridge space (Bava et al. 2008; Evans 2011a, 2012b; Hebrok & Boks 2017; Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019).

Not using food that has already been purchased is perceived as both a waste of money and ethically wrong. Although, in this respect, consumers can appear more concerned with the negative financial prospects related to discarding bought food rather than environmental and social issues (Stancu et al. 2016; Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2017b; Falasconi et al. 2019).

2.1.1 Price involvement and food waste

Offers on foods, e.g., buy-one-get-one free or other "volume" offers, or other socalled "special offers" have garnered criticism for provoking consumers to overpurchase and are widely blamed for generating consumer food waste. A 2021 literature review focusing on these assumptions revealed that aggregated results are ambiguous (Tsalis et al. 2021). Some positive links between price promotions and household food waste were established whilst other findings associated users of price promotions with average or lower than average levels of food waste. In Aschemann-Witzel et al. (2022) found two simultaneously existing, and somewhat contradictory, narratives surrounding questions of responsibility in this relationship between consumer and retailer. On the one hand, a consumer governed relationship in which retailers are essentially stripped of agency and responsibility. On the other, a joint responsibility is shared by consumers and upstream FSC actors, in which the retailer is seen as tempting the consumer into overprovisioning.

Indeed, several accounts questioning the ability of special offers to provoke over-consumption have surfaced in recent years. Van Lin et al. (2023) studied volume-deals finding no evidence of a relationship between food waste and single or multi-unit promotions. Nor could the attention to and purchase of discounted foods be shown to relate to household food waste by Giordano et al. (2019) and Falasconi et al. (2019). Furthermore, Tsalis et al. (2024) discovered a significant negative association between household food waste and the amount of food purchased at discounts. Additionally, discarding foods bought at discount was shown to be significantly associated with generally higher levels of food waste than average (Giordano et al. 2019).

In fact, deal-searching, price-consciousness and use of discounts have been seen to relate to more awareness of and efforts to reduce food wasted at home. A study by Tsalis et al. (2024) illustrated that consumers who consciously utilise discounts are better at using up their purchases. Moreover, Aschemann-Witzel et al. (2017b) demonstrated that the probability of a discounted close-to-date item being made use of at home was integral to the purchase decision, so that money would not be wasted. Amr Yassin and Soares (2021) add weight to this argument by failing to expose any link between discounted close-to-date foods and impulse buying.

These revelations strike a chord with Evans' (2011b) and Holmes' (2018) studies on consciously restrained spending in terms of thrift and frugality. In relation to sustainable consumption¹, Evans (2011b) proposes a distinction between thrift and frugality. Thrift describes the saving of money in general spending so as to enable further consumption. Frugality, in contrast, is expressed in the prudent use of money and cautious, restrictive consumption. Frugality, therefore, "unlike thrift, it is at odds with normative expectations of consumer cultures" (Evans 2011b:552). Holmes (2018), on the other hand, makes no distinction but describes thrift in terms of the motivation behind restraint in spending - financial necessity, moral conscience and enjoyment. From this understanding, thrift motivated by financial necessity and environmental conscience can be likened to Evans' frugality, as they lead to more sustainable consumption. Holmes' (2018) work highlights that motivations for thrift are not limited to decisions on how to spend money, but rather that they colour how consumers understand and exploit the value of items consumed. This ties in neatly with findings highlighted above that reveal links between prudent spending and using up purchases (Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2017b; Tsalis et al. 2024). Consequently, stating that discounts trigger food waste is too simplified a picture of actual circumstances (Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2017b; Tsalis et al. 2021).

2.1.2 Planning

Composing meal plans in advance and using shopping lists has been shown to influence household food waste. Busy lifestyles that demand the juggling of many commitments can create barriers to structured food provisioning (Hebrok & Boks 2017). Farr-Wharton et al. (2014) describe two ends of a planning spectrum where

¹ Sustainable consumption as consuming less and consuming goods and services with lower impact (Evans 2011b).

planners tend to avoid buying too much food as their provisioning is more grounded in the status of household stocks, compared to improvisers, whose provisioning is more spontaneous and instinctive. A study of food waste behaviour in Denmark revealed that extensive planning is not only challenging but is perceived to limit flexibility (TÆNK Forbrugerrådet et al. 2012). As an associate of overbuying, stocking up to establish preparedness in case of various eventualities has been understood as a driver of food waste as it can lead to the quality and safety of foods deteriorating before consumers get around to thinking to eat them (Graham-Rowe et al. 2014). Although by stocking up on foods with a longer shelf life, like preserves or frozen food, consumers can insure against disruptions whilst avoiding waste (Comber et al. 2013).

2.1.3 Storage and leftovers

Storage practices have evolved drastically over the last few generations, allowing for refrigeration methods to both mitigate and facilitate food waste. Despite its vast societal contributions to food safety and convenience (Marshall 2023), fridge and freezer technology represents an important conduit of food waste (Evans 2012b; a; Dobernig & Schanes 2019; Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019). This applies in particular to leftovers, a result of over-providing, which can be routinely placed in the fridge or freezer after cooking. This can act to obscure the fresh and safe foods that enter the fridge, allowing for their decay and loss of value to occur in containment. This means that the fridge or freezer becomes a holdover placement during which the discomfort associated with wasting the food is lessened by a deterioration which occurs in obscurity.

The production of leftovers is not merely a symptom of a lack of skill or knowledge concerning portion sizes. Evans (2011a, 2012a; b) concludes that living up to societal norms governing family care that expect plentiful meals to be provided is a root cause of leftovers. Leftovers are then subject to further contextual factors that lead to their wastage. For instance, their volume is unsuitable for another portion(s), leftovers that do not *go together*, aspects of prestige and a perceived expectation of variety (Bava et al. 2008; Evans 2012b).

In studying leftovers and food waste, following the food and tracking its perceived value is a central notion in understanding consumers' reasoning. In studying the successful use of leftovers as thrifty behaviour, Cappellini and Parsons (2012) discovered that the collective sacrifice made in preparing and eating meals from leftovers could strengthen feelings of familial belonging. They also found that the production of leftovers could spark the planning of another meal and that this required the skills to understand how its residual value could be released. This aligns with Hebrok and Heidenstrøm's (2019) findings that the perceived value of food is understood in terms of its perceived utilisation.

2.1.4 Risk, safety and date markings

Avoidable household food waste is also caused by uncertainty in determining the safety of food and the misunderstanding of date labelling. In studying household food waste generation, Hebrok and Heidenstrøm (2019) concluded that assessing the edibility of foods was a decisive moment in the cause or mitigation of waste. When consumers are unsure that food is safe, they will discard it rather than risk the health of themselves or their family (Evans 2011a; Farr-Wharton et al. 2014; Graham-Rowe et al. 2014). Priefer et al. (2016) identified best before and use-by date markings as a promising target for intervention as the confusion surrounding them is a main driver of waste at the household level. Lack of knowledge on this topic could also compound other causes of food waste in the household, like buying too much food and uncertainty in how to store it (Ananda et al. 2022). D'Amato (2023) found that misinterpreting date labels leads to consumers' over- or underestimating a product's value, whilst Aschemann-Witzel et al. (2017b) illustrated that it leads to decisions not to purchase. The latter study also demonstrated however, that reasoning about date labelling alongside other factors at the household level differs to pre-purchase reasoning. In addition, de Hooge et al. (2017) propose that familiarity with SOF products is likely to offer knowledge development when it comes to interpreting date labelling and the use of the senses to evaluate a food's continued edibleness.

2.1.5 Sociological approaches consider contexts

A sociological approach recognises that material, temporal and social contexts of consumers' everyday lives form and reform the way they handle food (Evans 2011a, 2012; Holmes 2018; Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019). Holmes (2018) relates this to the study of thrift, explaining that thrift merely in term of consumption disregards its importance in, and relevance to, other aspects of daily living.

A number of everyday contexts were identified by both Bava (2008) and Evans (2011a, 2012a). These included routinised provisioning where unemptied packages and leftovers did not conform to the pattern and a lack of synchrony between the material and the temporal. For example, packaging portions unsuited to single-person households led to the spoiling of remainders before they were desired again, and that normalised perceptions of 'proper'² meals and healthy diets rationalised overprovisioning such as to cooking too much and buying too much fresh fruit and vegetables. As seen in the normative use of 'proper', Bava et al. (2008) highlighted the dichotomous use of 'good' and 'bad' in reference to providing good and healthy food. Food provisioning governed in part by notions of good, bad and proper, for

² The term proper in this respect is widely used in colloquial English. It generally means wholesome and decent, in the very least meeting the needs of the eater. Note however that the term is subjective (Evans 2011a).

example, are described by Holmes (2018) in terms of thrift motivated by conscience.

Hebrok and Heidenström (2019) exhibited how decisive moments at the individual level are interlinked to more structural contexts of daily life, infrastructure and meaning. That food waste is governed in no small part by factors outside the direct control of the consumer implies that, in addition to awareness and knowledge building, policy and interventions ought to also target these associated contexts. Hebrok and Boks (2017) also underscore the importance of capitalising on the deeper understandings of consumer behaviour afforded by qualitative methods.

2.2 The discounting of close-to-date foods and food provisioning practices

Several of the studies focused on consumer behaviour with discounted close-todate foods merely in relation to its commercial implications and to reducing food waste at the retail level (Aschemann-Witzel 2018; Bech-Larsen et al. 2019; Cicatiello et al. 2019; Amr Yassin & Soares 2021; D'Amato et al. 2023; Chang et al. 2024; Tait et al. 2024). Whilst this thesis is interested in the consumer perspective, it is helpful to understand the research-base for the retail sector's marketing of discounted close-to-date foods as this also reflects and affects the consumers' food provisioning practices, especially those occurring at the supermarket.

2.2.1 Price involvement & shopping

Aschemann-Witzel et al. (2017b) propose that selling cut-price SOFs targets pricefocused consumers, a group that may waste less due to their in-store considerations. For commercialisation, Bech-Larsen et al. (2019) reason that close-to-date reductions should be distinguished as promotional. Tsalis (2020) demonstrated that certain types of price involvement, including deal-proneness and value consciousness, (not necessarily focused on low prices *per se*), generated increased purchase interest for SOFs, price consciousness, (dedication to low prices), however, did not. This aligns with findings by Aschemann-Witzel (2018). Chang et al. (2024) showed that consumers with deep concerns over prices present positive perceptions of SOFs that maintain acceptable quality.

Aschemann-Witzel (2018) and Chang et al. (2024) investigated the effects of varying the way in which close-to-date discounts are communicated. Chang et al. (2024) illustrated that discounted items with high original prices are more attractive to Taiwanese consumers when the discount is communicated in terms of money saved whereas discounts on items with low original prices are more attractive to consumers when communicated in terms of percent. Aschemann-Witzel (2018)

found no significant variation in Danish consumers' purchase likelihood when stickers on discounted close-to-date foods items communicated the price in combination with a variety of other cues - *fight food waste, save money*, and *organic*.

Slightly at odds with Aschemann-Witzel (2018), above, social and environmental credence values such as organic production have elsewhere been found to positively affect consumer perceptions of SOFs (Tait et al. 2024). Discounted close-to-date foods seem to be perceived by consumers as quite distinct from other reduced price foods (Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2017b; de Hooge et al. 2017; Tsalis 2020). For example, various types of suboptimality are valued differently by consumers (de Hooge et al. 2017), potentially influenced by the potential safety aspect posed by close-to-date foods (Tsalis 2020). This implies that discounted close-to-date foods items ought to be studied as a discrete group.

A number of articles conclude that consumer perceptions of discounts vary across specific types of products and their discounts. As mentioned above, the valuation of a discounted item was shown to depend on its original price, indicating that original price is used by the consumer as a proxy for quality (Chang et al. 2024). Comparable multiple- and single-unit promotions are perceived differently (Van Lin et al. 2023), and consumer attitudes towards "normal" discounts are different from those towards SOFs (Cicatiello et al. 2019). Consumer perceptions are not only important in relation to price communication, but also to the communication of SOF promotions in general.

2.2.2 Consumer acceptance

Some studies have challenged the perception that promoting the sale of SOFs can be damaging to store and brand images. In 2017(b), Aschemann-Witzel et al. met with accounts of discounted close-to-date foods reflecting well on retailers. Bech-Larsen et al. (2019) exposed that the phenomenon was witnessing increased acceptance across socio-economic strata in some European countries. A sentiment also mirrored by Aschemann-Witzel (2018) in Denmark. This study suggested that the visibility of the food waste debate in media led to favourable perceptions by inducing consumers to test the practice. Hence, upon meeting with good experiences of SOFs and building familiarity, favourable attitudes were generated, increasing the likelihood of SOF purchases. This is mirrored in a later study by Aschemann-Witzel et al. (2022) which, in questions of consumer and retailer responsibility, concluded that both retailer and consumers have taken to assuming more responsibility for food waste issues in light of a continuous societal discourse on the matter (de Hooge et al. 2017). These findings imply that the recent reframing of this measure, from mitigating financial losses (Tsiros & Heilman 2005) to mitigating food waste, has helped to increase its acceptance with consumers.

Consumer familiarity with these items has even been evidenced to increase the likelihood of their purchase. Chang et al. (2024) found familiarity to be both a moderating and a direct factor in consumer attitude and intention to purchase suboptimal foods. De Hooge et al. (2017) commented that more experience with SOF probably generates increased willingness to consume close-to-date items. Similarly, both Aschemann-Witzel (2018) and Tsalis (2020) found that an existing tendency for SOF purchase positively affected intention for future SOF purchase and were able to link this with price-involvement.

2.3 Literature review conclusion

Taken together, the literature indicates that dimensions of price involvement and thrift are intricately linked to consumer perceptions of value. This implies that consumer motivations for purchasing close-to-date offers are associated with subsequent behaviour in the household that acts to minimise waste in general. The literature also highlights the myriad contexts of everyday life that influence waste throughout consumers' food provisioning practices, regardless of the consumers' motivations. While each activity that revolves around households' food provision is subject to its own food waste factors, these factors often impact across multiple food provisioning practices. This creates an interconnectedness through food provisioning which reflects that seen in perceptions of value that link purchase motivations, through activities in the household, and hence to food waste.

This chapter has revealed a lack of research on close-to-date foods independently from other SOFs. In addition, generation of food waste in the household is contextually dependent. However, whilst qualitative data is essential in the exploration of contexts, data pertaining specifically to close-to-date offers is largely quantitative. Going forward, this highlights the need for qualitative data that provides insights into how consumers reason with and manage their consumption of close-to-date offers in relation to everyday contexts in order to understand possible associations with food waste.

3. Theory

To answer how consumers' everyday food provisioning practices allow for the consumption of close-to-date offers, I require a theory that can explain how reasoning and everyday practical management of close-to-date foods interrelate, from administering retail purchases to household use. To this end, I use practice theory because, by encouraging that the elements of each food related activity be accounted for, it allows for common elements between activities to be identified, clarifying the interrelatedness of food related activities. Further, to operationalise practice theory for the empirical investigation of close-to-date foods, the use of such offers is regarded as a specific type of consumption within food provisioning.

This chapter opens with an initial look at practice theories to provide a basis for the practical approach to understanding food provisioning. Finally, the role of consumption within practices presented.

3.1 Practice theories

Practice theories propose a way to understand the construction of the social world, a world in which practices are its fundamental building blocks (Schatzki 2001). A practice is:

"[...] a routinized type of behaviour which consists of several elements, interconnected to one other: forms of bodily activities, forms of mental activities, 'things' and their use, a background knowledge in the form of understanding, know-how, states of emotion and motivational knowledge."(Reckwitz 2002:249)

A practice therefore, is an established way of performing a physical and/or cognitive activity in a routinised manner. Practices such as composing a shopping list, grocery shopping, or cooking are performed when the carrier – the individual carrying out the practice – coordinate and connect the relevant elements (Reckwitz 2002).

To aid empirical study, the elements of a practice can be categorised as materials (things), competences (knowledge and skills) and meanings (feelings and motivation) (Shove et al. 2012). Simply interpreted, I understand these elements as the *Whats, Hows* and *Whys* of performing a practice. In the performance, the carrier coordinates the elements and thereby performs the practice. To indicate how one can conceptualise what people do in terms of practices and their materials, competences and meanings, I speculate how a consumer might perform a food provisioning practice, shopping, in order to purchase a close-to-date offer:

What things does the practice necessitate? – Discounted close-to-date food, a retailer, money, communication of the discount.

How are these things used? *How* was this knowledge and skill learned? – The communication of the discount might be used in a basic cost-benefit analysis of the potential purchase, this might involve knowledge in e.g., how to use the food, taste, nutrition, how long it will keep etc. In turn, this could demand cooking skills and other knowledge learned from parents, recipe books or life-experience, for example.

Why is the practice performed? – The discount could allow saving money on a planned purchase giving good value for money, one could also be motivated to buy the close-to-date offer because it feels good to rescue food that might be thrown away.

A practice is neither static nor existing in a vacuum. Practices share common Whats, Hows and Whys which link them (Shove et al. 2012), and they are affected by changes to their environs. That is to say that practices and their performances are characteristic of their temporal, spatial and social contexts (Warde 2005). Thus, in reciprocation with developments and disruptions to these contexts, the way practices are performed can change.

3.1.1 Practical food provisioning

Food provisioning practices encompass those directed towards and stemming from the obtaining and eating of food (Bava et al. 2008; Schubert 2008). These practices are strongly connected and interdependent often sharing materials, competences and meanings.

The more widespread implementation of discounting close-to-date foods by grocery retailers seen recently represents a new dimension in the food provisioning environment. On the surface, the intervention affects the grocery store context, likely impacting practices performed there. However, the interdependent nature of food provisioning practices imply that it will also impact practices performed in the household context. The entire array of food provisioning practices may therefore be required to evolve in order to inhabit this new dimension and allow for the consumption of discounted close-to-date foods (Schatzki 2013).

By understanding food provisioning in this manner, practice theory provides a tool by which I may analyse the effects of consumption of discounted close-to-date foods on the routinised activities that can be considered under the umbrella of food provisioning practices, and *vice versa*. That is to say, how the materials, competences and meanings of food provisioning practices might have evolved to accommodate the innovation of discounting close-to-date foods, and how everyday food provisioning shapes how close-to-date foods are used.

3.2 Consumption and practices

Collectively, practice theories have been emphasised as a fitting tool for sociologists to employ in the analysis of consumption (Schatzki 2001; Warde 2005, 2014; Halkier & Jensen 2011; Warde et al. 2017). This is underscored by Corsini et al. (2019) who detail the rise of operationalising social practice theories in the study of sustainable consumption.

Consumption of discounted close-to-date foods is driven by the performance of certain food provisioning practices. Warde (2005) conceives that the conventions of a given practice dictate what is obtained and used in order to perform it, that practice instigates consumption. Hence, consumption is not a practice in itself but rather a prerequisite for practices. Of interest to the current study therefore, is to understand which aspects of food provisioning performance by the consumers of close-to-date offers dictate that these foods are suitable.

Facilitating the analysis of the consumption of discounted close-to-date foods, I utilise a framework that conceptualises distinguishable moments of consumption. Warde (2005, 2014) proposes three such moments:

- *Acquisition* deals with how the consumers access and obtain discounted close-to-date foods.
- *Appropriation* involves what the consumers do with their discounted closeto-date foods, how they are incorporated into their lives and ascribed with meaning.
- *Appreciation* is concerned with how consumption of discounted close-todate foods gratifies and pleases the consumers.

These three As reveal that the ways in which close-to-date foods are obtained, used and enjoyed are keys to understanding how they are integrated into everyday life. However, the application of these three As to the focus of this study, close-to-date foods, their discounted purchase and their subsequent fate highlights a shortcoming in relation to the broader context of this study: What if the fate of the discounted close-to-date item is the rubbish bin? Issues of waste highlight subsequent moments in consumption, relating to the reversal of Warde's (2005, 2014) three As. Evans (2019) proposes a counterpart "D" to each of the three As:

- *Devaluation* represents the reversal of appreciation, how the discounted close-to-date food's value, its capacity to provide satisfaction to the consumers, decreases with time.
- *Divestment* represents the reversal of appropriation, how attachments to discounted close-to-date foods are negated and meaning diminished.

• *Disposal* represents the reversal of acquisition, the factors contributing to the discounted close-to-date food ending up in the compost bin.

The three Ds illuminate that the value of close-to-date acquisitions is subject to the temporal context. This is consequently reflected in changes to how close-to date foods are related to and the eventual undoing of acquisition.

In identifying how these consumption moments are enacted with close-to-date offers, I may understand and explain how these foods are accommodated by the elements of food provisioning practices and hence how they are considered as befitting their performance.

4. Method

The following chapter gives an account of the data collection and analysis processes and provides support for the methodological choices I made in research design. All preparation, data collection and analysis were carried out by me.

This study took place in Sweden and data collection was carried out in March and April of 2025.

4.1 Research approach

This study investigates the consumers' own practices for purchasing and using discounted of close-to-date foods, in relation to their own lives and employs practice theory as a lens through which to understand consumption (and waste). Practice theory recognises the origin of practices in social constructions (Warde 2005). Thus, the study requires a social constructivist epistemology to ensure appropriate method design, data collection and analysis.

The constructivist approach is interested in the individuals' own interpretations and experiences of reality (Robson & McCartan 2016). The interviews offered a flexible data collection method via which I could personally interact with the interviewees in real time to gain insights into how they understood their own consumption of discounted close-to-date foods in their performances of food provisioning practices. Using semi-structured interviews, I was able to actively adapt the interview's structure, in an organic and reflexive manner, depending on the responses delivered (Robson & McCartan 2016; Bååth 2022).

4.2 Recruitment of interviewees

I designed a simple flyer for public display and distribution to attract potential interviewees (see Appendix I). The flyer included a QR-code and URL to an online form where interested individuals could leave their contact details and any questions, they were also asked to state where they saw the flyer. A university email address was also provided in as a second line of contact. The flyer and study description supplied to potential participants intentionally excluded any reference to food waste. This deviation from the ALLEA-codex (2023) was taken to minimise the risk that interviewee responses would be affected by this topic which has been widely moralised in societal discussion in recent years.

The flyers were distributed in a variety of manners to reach a range of consumers of discounted close-to-date foods. Initially, physical copies were pinned to public noticeboards and dropped into 60 letterboxes of detached and semi-detached houses around a few suburbs of southwest Stockholm. Several supermarkets were approached for permission to display the flyer alongside their close-to-date items.

However, only one smaller supermarket accepted. Referral sampling was also employed, whereby interviewees identified other individuals eligible for participation (Robson & McCartan 2016). Interviewees were kindly asked to suggest and contact potential interviewees they knew or suspected, bought closeto-date items. They were also provided with a digital copy of the flyer. Additionally, in reaction to low response levels, digital copies of flyers were also sent to social and professional contacts with the request of spreading them among their own contacts.

A total of 20 individuals responded to the various recruitment methods (see Table 1), active steps were taken to enrol male interviewees since earlier respondents were overwhelmingly female.

Table 1. Overview of the interviewees by gender, recruitment method and age group. For recruitment method and age group, division of gender is given in brackets with female first.

| Interviewees (n=15) | |
|---------------------------------|--------------------|
| Gender | |
| Female | 11 |
| Male | 4 |
| Interviewees per recruitment me | thod (female/male) |
| Supermarket poster | 3 (0/3) |
| Noticeboard poster | 2 (2/0) |
| Letterbox | 2 (1/1) |
| Referral | 7 (7/0) |
| Direct associate | 1 (1/0) |
| Age group (female/male) | |
| 30-39 | 3 (1/2) |
| 40-49 | 7 (6/1) |
| 50-59 | 3 (2/1) |
| 60-69 | 2 (2/0) |

Table 1 gives an overview of the interviewees. 11 females and 4 males were interviewed, representing a broad variation of age and income. No interviewees came from the same household and they were all interviewed separately.

4.3 Interviews

The interviewees were offered a choice of interview medium: in person; a digital meeting; or a telephone call. Reasons behind this were on the one hand pragmatic. Digital and telephone options were considered as allowing convenience for individuals who might otherwise have considered the process too time consuming. On the other hand, participant choice of interview medium was also reasoned to work in favour of a social constructivist epistemology as the interviewee was able

communicate and give context to what was relevant and important to them, in this instance in terms of meeting environment (Holstein & Gubrium 1995).

14 interviews were conducted in Swedish and one in English. I, the researcher am a native English speaker and speak Swedish fluently as a second language. The interview conducted in English was with another native English speaker.

The approach to interview design, conduct and analysis was influenced by perspectives of the Active interview (Holstein & Gubrium 1995). This modus acknowledges interviews as sites of co-construction of meaning and emphasises their interpretative nature. This approach was particularly useful in the application of the interview guide in a semi-structured manner. I became a facilitator to the dialogues, allowing the interviewees to express their interpretations whilst lightly guiding in terms of thematic direction, providing relevance in the meaning created.

An interview guide was formulated that encouraged the collaborative process described by Holstein and Gubrium (1995) (see Appendix II). Based around three stages, interviews expanded on the perspective of food on journeys, i.e., the interviewees' path of food provisioning practices (Bava et al. 2008; Evans 2011a, 2018; Tsalis et al. 2021). This highlights the connectedness of the practices and links the moments of consumption - from household food planning and purchasing through storage, to eventual use or disposal. Seen as a journey, planning around food could be seen as the first step, perhaps more conceptual and cognitive than physical food shopping or cooking. A household's degree of planning for meals and food shopping is often studied in relation to actual purchasing and/or food waste (e.g.: Evans 2011; Stancu et al. 2016; Cicatiello et al. 2019; Giordano et al. 2019).

Further, each stage of the food journey highlighted in the interview guide was itself approached with a three-step framework that helped to operationalise the constructivist epistemology and practice theoretical perspective. Adapted from Granot (2012), the first step is concerned with how the interviewee came to find themselves in the current situation, this was adapted to the practice theoretical perspective by enquiring as to how the respondent's food provisioning practices with discounted close-to-date foods were learned (Sahakian & Wilhite 2014). Granot's (2012) second step looks into the interviewee's accounts of their own experiences. Encouraging recollection rather than accounting for opinions, e.g. asking the interviewee to think of a specific close-to-date item they had recently bought, offered an effectual tool to procure interpretations of their lived experiences (Holstein & Gubrium 1995). Lastly, the interviewees were asked what the consumption of discounted close-to-date foods meant to them (Granot et al. 2012). Encouraging reflection on the embeddedness of this consumption within their food provisioning in this manner was the culmination of the collaborative meaningmaking (Holstein & Gubrium 1995).

Two pilot interviews were conducted to test the guide, these interviewees were previously known to the interviewer. These pilots provided valuable insights and were included in the analysis. A sound recording was made of each interview for later transcription and some notes were taken during the interview. These notes were mostly for use later during the interview, e.g., family names and children's ages, follow-up questions (Robson & McCartan 2016). Upon ending an interview, my general impressions about the interviewee's consumption of discounted close-to-date foods were jotted down. In addition, analytic memos were written to record an account of my reflections on the process and any patterns I recognised could be emerging (Saldaña 2013).

4.3.1 Ethical considerations

Prior to their participation, interviewees were required to read and sign information and consent form (see Appendix III). The form detailed their right to withdrawal, what personal data would be collected and how it would be processed and stored. Due care was taken to safeguard anonymity of respondents from third parties, except in cases of referral sampling where participation depended on this overstep.

4.4 Analysis

4.4.1 Transcription

Audio recordings of interviews were transcribed by hand which provided further depth to my familiarisation with the material, an important preparation for subsequent coding (Robson & McCartan 2016). A degree of active selection was employed; for example, dialogue going off on irrelevant tangents was excluded and rambling monologues were paraphrased to highlight their point. This gave better flow to the transcripts, facilitating further analysis. Paraphrases were written in italics between asterisks to denote the selectivity, often with a timestamp to allow for easy retrieval if required at a later stage. In addition, the manuscripts were largely naturalised e.g., a comma added for a pause, an exclamation mark or capital letters used upon an outburst or particularly strong emphasis. Whilst naturalised text in manuscript is a positivist trait, it was felt to add usefulness, providing clarity and readability in the resulting text (Bucholtz 2000; Davidson 2009).

4.4.2 Coding

After transcription of the recorded interviews, I analysed the data in three rounds of coding. Firstly, I used descriptive and structural codes to sort and reduce the data which allowed me to build a practical foundation that supported the rest of the coding process (Gibbs 2012; Saldaña 2013; Robson & McCartan 2016). The data extracted included dialogue about food provisioning practices and other relevant topics lifted by the literature review, both in terms of discounted close-to-date foods and foods in general, e.g., planning, price involvement, date markings, waste. As the code names transpired, they were recorded in a codebook alongside a

description and in some cases exclusion criteria. The codebook was then used as a point of reference to facilitate consistent coding throughout process (Gibbs 2012; Saldaña 2013).

In the second round of coding, I categorised the data extracts from the first round in terms of the elements of practices and in terms of consumption moments. Excerpts pertaining to materials, competences and/or meanings related to discounted close-to-date foods were distinguished from practices with foods in general. In the same vein excerpts pertaining to consumption moments with discounted close-to-date foods were distinguished from those with foods in general. The concept driven steps in both rounds one and two enabled me to identify particular nuances in the consumption of discounted close-to-date foods that contribute to their suitability for the interviewees' everyday food provisioning performances (Gibbs 2012).

Finally, the categories were coded once more to highlight thematic similarities between the excerpts, enabling me to group together extracts on the same theme. This allowed me to build a theme-by-theme understanding of the interviewees' accounts and identify key features underlying their consumption of discounted close-to-date foods. These are presented in the following chapter.

5. Findings

This section presents the findings from the data collection and coding analysis. To give structure, the presentation will follow the journey of close-to-date foods through the various food provisioning practices. These are primarily divided into two sections. Firstly, practices and consumption moments which play out in the grocery store, followed by those carried out in the home.

5.1 Consumption of close-to-date foods at the supermarket

For most interviewees, shopping trips are preceded by some level of planning. Planning can be appreciated as initiating acquisition and also as the point of departure for the food journey. The interviewees demonstrated, however, that planning is a practice that is neither limited to the time before the shopping trip is made, nor even necessary in all cases. The grocery store provides the material infrastructure for the performance of grocery shopping, of course, but is also the site of much planning; together, these practices demand a host of competences and interrelate to practices performed later in provisioning.

5.1.1 Planning

The level of detail and structure the interviewees applied to meal planning and listmaking prior to a supermarket visit ranged along a scale. At the most thorough extreme, some interviewees constructed a list for up to a week's worth of detailed meal planning. Interviewee 2's children lived with him every other week, for these weeks, he scheduled a meal plan for weekday dinners that went as far as considering the children's school lunch menu:

2: For weekdays I often check through the schedule for school lunches and try to plan around that and do a meal plan on a Sunday for the week, for dinners... so they don't get fish and potatoes for dinner if they've had it for lunch. And so they get more hearty food on the days... they sometimes get soup at school and then I think that they can have something more carbohydrate and protein-rich, like spaghetti Bolognese or something heavier.

More open approaches included interviewee 12's process, a mix of structured meal planning in advance and semi-structured lists with types of foods, e.g., meat, fish, vegetables etc. She would then shop depending on what fitting items were on offer or discounted upon her visit to the store. Interestingly, in light of the quote above, interviewee 2 also exhibited loose planning, applicable to child-free weeks:

2: Maybe I don't plan at all, I can plan on the way home from work, in my head, I know pretty much what I've got at home and if I might need to shop. At the weekend it could

be that I just go to the shop and have a look, what's there? What am I in the mood for? So it can be very spontaneous like that, that can be fun.

Some interviewees arrived at the grocery store with a vague objective to *Shop for dinner*, allowing for interest to be piqued by seeing what was available. At the other extreme, interviewees exhibited a total lack of planning and would go into the store because they happened to be walking by.

Once at the supermarket, an interviewee would very occasionally stumble across a discounted close-to-date item that fit neatly into their planning without the need for any reorganisation. However, the interviewees' thought processes regarding potential purchases of discounted close-to-date products, especially for dinners, usually varied between three patterns, each demanding various competences. Firstly, purchases of discounted close-to-date items could be made in the name of opportunistically stocking up. In this instance, interviewees capitalised on a good price without a specific meal plan in mind but with the knowledge that the items would fit into the rhythm of the household. This even facilitated future, more structured planning around what was already at home.

12: I know which products we like. I've cooked food my whole life and I know that there's a lot you can do with a piece of meat or fish. So [upon seeing a discounted close-to-date food] it's not at all that I think -Then I'll make that recipe-, not really, I just know that this is good meat, I can use it for *something*.

This everyday usefulness was sometimes due to the perceived adaptability of the discounted close-to-date item itself and was reliant on cooking knowledge and skills, as interviewee 11 remarked when we discussed how she intuitively understood that discounted close-to-date cream could easily be integrated into a dinner:

11: So it's pretty easy for me to think, -Right, I've got squash, I've got this cream that's going to go off and maybe onion and pasta-, I can make something with that but I don't need to look up a recipe. [...] I'd never bake without a recipe but I know how to experiment with the food I cook. [...]

Interviewer: So it's kind of along the lines of, you have a good understanding for how to use these items and also that you, for the most part, buy discounted close-to-date items that will work in the day-to-day?

11: Yes

Interviewer: ... that there aren't any outliers...

11: No... I buy discounted close-to-date stuff that are ingredients, I'd be surprised I came home with some kind of. pancake mix for example, something that has a specified use. I can do lots of different things with a squash, I can use cream in lots of different things, but with pancake mix...

Interviewer: You get pancakes...

11: You get pancakes!

When not stocking up, interviewees spontaneously formulated meal plans based on the discounted close-to-date offers available. The planning of a particular meal around the close-to-date item initiated its appropriation. The interviewee would imagine how they would prepare the item, what would accompany it, who would eat it and, often based on the date marking, when this would occur. These mental steps instigated the food's incorporation into the interviewees' day-to-day. For improvisors, this could solve the question *What's for dinner*? where the close-todate item represented the point of departure for the evening's dinner. In doing so, these close-to-date foods offered a convenience, reducing the cognitive effort required by providing dinner. Alternatively, for structured administrators, the dinner plan featuring the discounted close-to-date item would be cognitively woven into an existing meal plan that the interviewee was shopping for. The latter instance demanded the competence to exercise flexibility in their planning, often whilst also recalling the status of items already present in the household. Interviewee 15 described how she reasons:

15: Yes, we did cod with potatoes and egg-sauce, there's always some dinner that's not so planned – this filled in.

Interviewer: In that case, what happened with your plan?

15: The plan remained. We often have four dinners planned and there's always one you can put off until next week if you find an discounted close-to-date item instead, and then I've got a dinner over for next week. It's usually something that will keep, if we're going to eat spinach soup, that's frozen so it can get used the week after instead.

5.1.2 The supermarket

The interviewees reported on different methods of display and communication used by retailers selling discounted close-to-date foods. The most common display methods discussed were a dedicated fridge, just for discounted close-to-date foods with mixed product groups, and displaying close-to-date items alongside identical items with a longer shelf-life. The interviewees showed mixed preferences concerning the different approaches. Once they had found dedicated close-to-date fridges in their frequented stores, the interviewees most often or always visited them when they were there. This suited some interviewees, but others found it interrupted their trip. It was uncommon for the interviewees to alter their store route to visit the dedicated fridge first, so they would pick up items along their regular route and visit the dedicated fridge when they were nearer it. This could sometimes be a bit impractical, resulting in them finding discounted close-to-date items that were comparable to items they had already picked up. As a consequence, the interviewees who wished to replace the item with the longer shelf-life with the one from the discounted close-to-date fridge were forced to double back on themselves. This meant that they preferred the other display method, where foods were in the same place regardless of their shelf-life.

Some interviewees commented explicitly that they thought that the dedicated fridge should be more conspicuously presented, rather than disguised with opaque doors for example, as this had prevented them from finding it in the first place. In addition, these fridges should be more prominently located, instead of halfway around or at the back of the store. Interviewee 3 related her feelings on the matter:

3: I think the supermarket, first and foremost, they want to sell products at full price and sometimes you see that they put, at ICA for example, they put that fridge in a corner, they should put these close-to-date right at the front, somewhere where everyone can see, then you can buy it, you have more chance of seeing that the close-to-date items exist. But of course they primarily want to sell their goods at full price. But there are people who only want to buy things with a long shelf-life. But for many, people with poor finances, this close-to-date discounting means a lot so I think they should have more products in a place where everyone can see.

Retailer communication regarding these products was discussed with regard to two topics. Interviewees 7 and 9 declared that the way the discount was communicated was important in their ultimate purchase decision. Interviewee 11 commented on the way the phenomenon as a whole was presented by the retailer:

11: I remember the first time I saw them marked up with like "Eat Soon" or whatever it usually says, and I thought it was really good to highlight that for the customer, "We don't want to chuck this product, you can buy it a bit cheaper." [...]

Interviewer: And you thought that was a good way to communicate, these soon to expire items need to be eaten soon, and the message was, "....so we don't throw it away"?

11: That's what I thought in any case.

Naturally, as self-identified users of discounted close-to-date foods, all the interviewees expressed positivity towards the phenomenon, although this was not totally without a downside. Whilst the interviewees felt positively about the retailer discounting close-to-date foods, they expressed mixed opinions about retailer/industry responsibility in food waste questions. Some interviewees expressed a kind of dutiful responsibility as a consumer, one which they felt, to some degree, was forced on them, the consumer, by the implementation of discounting close-to-date foods. This quote, also from interviewee 11, illustrates a level of complexity in her thoughts and actions towards discounted close-to-date foods, one which was mirrored by other interviewees:

Interviewer: ... although you have actually expressed some feelings of responsibility, but you don't feel like it's your responsibility to buy these items so that the supermarkets don't need to throw them away?

11: Yeah there's absolutely that kind of process in me, but I also need to check myself so I'm not doing their job too!

Interviewer: So you have felt some pressure that some of this [responsibility] lies with you?

11: Absolutely.

Whilst it was uncommon for the interviewees to change their store route to accommodate a dedicated fridge for close-to-date foods, some did change their entire shopping routine to prioritise potentially finding close-to-date foods. Interviewee 12 lives rurally, seven kilometres from her local supermarkets, a journey which necessitates driving:

12: I shop at this ICA where they're bad at [discounting close-to-date foods]. There aren't a lot of supermarkets here, I can't drive tens of kilometres to get to a better one. But then I discovered that the little COOP was better at it, so I go there and buy [discounted close-to-date foods] and then I go and do the rest of the shopping at ICA. And then I'm out and about quite a lot locally so I've learned which shops are good at [discounting close-to-date foods] so I can go in and buy it.

In a similar vein but a markedly different geographical context, interviewee 5 lives less than a five-minute walk from his local supermarket, which uses a dedicated fridge to display its discounted close-to-date foods. Interviewee 5's consumption of discounted close-to-date foods has fundamentally changed the way he shops. For his basics, coffee and bread for example, he will drive to a larger shopping centre further out of town to stock up. On an almost daily basis, encouraged by his proximity to the shop and facilitated by the irregular hours of his work, he now visits the local shop in the morning, when he knows that staff mark-up and move close-to-date items to the dedicated fridge, and when the shop is not so busy. He is open-minded and curious in his shopping and lets the discounted close-to-date items dictate what he will eat for the day.

5.1.3 Purchase decisions

Many of the interviewees expressed specifically buying discounted close-to-date foods that were the same as, or similar to, foods already in regular circulation in the household. In this respect, discounted close-to-date breakfast products, like yoghurt and sandwich toppings, could however vary compared to what might have been a household's preferred choice, as exemplified by interviewee 1:

1: And it doesn't matter what kind it is, it can be different – when I eat breakfast at home it's a lot of fil³ - A-fil or kefir or onaka [...]

Interviewer: So you're not so picky? You don't need to see that it's a specific fil, just some kind of fil for your breakfast, it'll work?

1: Yes, it's very opportunistic, my hunt for discounted close-to-date items.

³ A soured milk product, most similar in use and taste to yoghurt, common at breakfast in Sweden.

This illustrated the competence to be flexible in this respect, i.e., they were not bound to brand or flavour. The recognition of this competence is strengthened by the contrast offered by interviewee 12 with the same kind of foods:

12: It's partly to do with the fact that yoghurt, it's a very particular kind. We never buy those fruit yoghurts. And you want the sourness that you're used to, in that we're rather... we don't want kefir and fil and such except we want a particular kind and I don't see them selling it off [discounted close-to-date] actually.

Breakfast foods in general were often highlighted as suitable for discounted closeto-date purchases as the tendency to routinely eat very similar breakfasts every day resulted in a relatively high and predictable turnover. Such turnover was particularly associated with dairy products, such as milk and yoghurt, making them attractive offers despite their fast-approaching best before date. The interviewees interpreted the date markings on these products precisely as intended, as best before but often acceptable after. They articulated the knowledge that these products often maintain their quality long after best before date, another competence.

The protein part of the weekday dinners was also a prominent product group in the consumption of discounted close-to-date foods. Most prevalent were meat products (e.g., minced, cuts, whole chickens, processed), and cuts of fish. Some prefabricated vegetarian items also came up in discussion (e.g., vegetable fritters, vegetarian sausages, pancakes). For interviewee 12, the discounting of close-todate meat and fish meant that her budget could accommodate better quality. The interviewees often expressed that, while to a lesser degree than breakfast, evening meals during the week are also routinised, often cycling through a kind of recipe bank every one to two weeks.

Whilst the majority of discounted close-to-date products the interviewees brought up were par for the course of their regular food provisioning, some items could be categorised as disrupting regular food provisioning practices. The purchase of these foods was justified by the discount and/or the rescuing aspect linked to these offers. These disruptive foods often represented small luxuries and, in some cases, enabled them to make a longed-for meal that otherwise would have been deemed too expensive or otherwise out of character. Incidentally, both interviewees 7 and 9 discussed making pizzas in this light:

9: I usually say -Now I want us to make one of those gorgonzola pizzas-... We only do that when gorgonzola is on offer, close-to-date, hahaha!

And interviewee 7:

7: Last time it was little tomatoes, and we made a pizza with them, which is really good with little tomato halves on. So [dinner] was pizza one day when we hadn't thought to eat pizza but I'd been longing for one of those pizzas with little tomatoes on.

In another case, interviewee 10, who lives alone, treated herself to a potato gratin with good quality cheese, prettily and practically constructed in a muffin form for a single serving. The item was a luxury both in terms of original price and in terms of its rich ingredients, something that interviewee 10 usually steered well clear of.

7: I found a potato gratin with Västerbotten cheese and it was like a little pastry in a muffin case. It was very good, but I would never buy something like that at full price, potato gratin isn't, it's got too much fat and all sorts in it but it was good.

The final example of discounted close-to-date foods disrupting regular food provisioning covers a theme that, during analysis, I called *Meat for vegetarians*. Two interviewees who, as a rule, do not eat meat, disliked the thought that a meat product would go to waste so much that they sometimes bought discounted close-to-date meat. They had not given up eating meat because they didn't like it, but for environmental and climate-related reasons. For them, close-to-date meat represented a loophole:

9: I feel like I'm tricking the system a bit. Me, who's not actually allowed to buy meat. But when I buy discounted close-to-date meat then I'm doing a good deed. So I can almost think that it's a bit of a luxury to get to eat a Bolognese sauce made with beef mince instead of vegan mince like we always do otherwise, and it's not really as good. I think it's damn good with beef mince so... I think I'm exploiting a loophole there.

And interviewee 11, commenting on the nature of discounts piquing one's interest:

11: I said we never cook meat at home and, in principle, we don't eat meat but it has happened that I've come home with sandwich meat, hahaha, which I think is, like smoked ham... No, it was salami, which I think is REALLY good, but that I normally speaking don't eat. So I saw it on discount and just -I'm going to jump at this opportunity!- I got a motivation so now I can eat a little salami because otherwise it'll be chucked and it's better that I eat it up than that it's chucked.

In an additional example of *Meat for vegetarians*, interviewee 14 does not want to eat meat at all for animal welfare reasons. She does buy meat regularly because her husband and three children are meat eaters, however, she tries to serve as little meat at home as she can. Her compassion for animals is triggered by the sight of discounted close-to-date meat products, leading to her buying them and even eating them herself to save them from going to waste. She has even lowered her standards in this respect, purchasing discounted close-to-date non-organic chicken when she would normally buy organic. She reasoned that she knows that their standard of living is awful, so she feels even more sorry for them and buys them to that some meaning on their existence is imparted.

Meat for vegetarians intersects both competence and meaning as it illustrates how interviewees 9, 11 and 14 can flip their everyday vegetarian stance to a stance which encourages meat-eating (competence) because rescuing it from waste aligns with their moral obligations (meaning). The following section builds more on the meanings identified in the planning and shopping performances by the interviewees.

5.1.4 In-store performances and meaning in relation to food waste mitigation

The interviewees' positive purchase decisions of discounted close-to-date foods were driven by a range of motivations. For many interviewees, close-to-date offers meant that they could capitalise on the opportunity to save money on a product they would usually buy, obtaining the same value for less money. For some, it meant that they were able to afford *levelling up* the foods in their day-to-day, obtaining more value for the same money. Whilst these two patterns expose value consciousness, these offers were also attractive to interviewees shopping on constrained budgets, exhibiting a more general price consciousness. In explaining her reasoning with close-to-date offers, interviewee 12 highlighted the difference between value and price consciousness: Her planning and shopping routines were developed in order to align with her strict frugality, although this was the manifestation of a deeply rooted view of how one *should* spend money rather than a financial necessity.

12: It's not because we're short on money *really*, because we've got enough to get by, absolutely. It's that it sits so deep in my soul that I can't go about it in another way. But I must state that we have very variable and nutritious and good food above all. I can't be doing with food that isn't good. We don't suffer, it's almost more of a sport, almost a sport actually, to do it cheaply I mean.

Interviewee 12's focus was on living up to both demands – good food, cheaply procured. The likeness to sport she proposed was made by several interviewees who incidentally also performed acquisition practices with value consciousness. These economic motivations seemed to be based in quite standard cost-benefit analysis reasoning, often in precisely the same manner as the interviewees would reason when making other purchases.

In contrast to the above, several interviewees remarked that saving money was often not really a factor for them. Some concluded that, whilst attractive, the discounts probably did not lead to any real savings as they did not account for a great volume of their total grocery shopping. In another example, despite an earlier statement that her family's consumption of close-to-date offers was motivated by saving money, interviewee 9, a self-professed vegetarian, declared that she did not reflect on the price when she bought discounted close-to-date mincemeat. Along with the above quotation from interviewee 12, this instance suggests complex meshes of interdependent meanings conspiring to direct interviewees' consumption of close-to-date offers. Adjusting plans and purchasing close-to-date offers was also an expression of the interviewees' ethical concerns. At some level, all of the interviewees were demonstrably aware of the environmental and climate-related impacts of food production and distribution. They could link this directly to a societal need to reduce food waste and subsequently to the phenomenon of discounting close-to-date foods. As well as environmental and climate issues, the interviewees would often highlight the human resources exploited in the name of food production. These matters were primary or prominent motivations in their purchasing these products ahead of similar products with a longer shelf-life. In addition, global disparities of food poverty and hunger were also lifted by some interviewees as forming a part of their understanding of the issues of food waste, although less explicit in their motives with close-to-date foods.

A prevalent comment amongst the interviewees, regardless of their planning or lack thereof, was that a positive purchase decision concerning a discounted closeto-date item was ultimately steered by a certainty that it would get used. Buying food that might not get eaten would open for the possibility of it wasting in person, at the household level. For the interviewees, this was clearly undesirable as it would be in stark contrast to many of their reasons for purchasing it in the first place: Financially, throwing away food was perceived as throwing away money; and ethically, throwing away food was a waste of natural and human resources as well as unsympathetic to broader issues of hunger.

All interviewees mentioned a combination of financial and ethical motivations that led to their acquisition of discounted close-to-date foods. Including these foods in their planning and purchasing provided them the ability to save money or strike a bargain whilst acting in line with their environmental and social values and being good, responsible citizens, all the while acquiring food that they found to be of value. Taken together, this would imply that in the case of these interviewees, the implementation of discounting close-to-date foods should be a suitable measure by which retail level food waste is reduced without negatively impacting their own household waste.

To address this implication and assess the outcomes of the interviewees' consumption of discounted close-to-date in terms of mitigating food waste, the food journey now continues to food provisioning practices in the home.

5.2 Close-to-date foods at home

The planning and flexibility therein exhibited by the interviewees during the acquisition continued to play important roles once discounted close-to-date items had arrived at the interviewees' homes. The interviewees declared that the mealtime plans spontaneously devised at the supermarket were usually kept to, although plans could be disturbed by *Something coming up*. The interviewees were then forced to display flexible planning competences, as they had at the supermarket, rearranging

plans once more. This competence is also called upon for other foods of course, however, discounted close-to-date items seemed to take precedence when the interviewees were forced to accommodate the unforeseen hinders. I will return to this topic later on.

5.2.1 Storage and deciding what to eat

If appropriation of discounted close-to-date items began at the supermarket, with some kind of plan, then it was most often put on pause in the home through storage. For instance, many of the discounted close-to-date items acquired in the name of stocking up went directly into the freezer once at home. A set of competences widely called upon in the interviewees' accounts of their consumption of discounted close-to-date foods was related to storage and their understanding or interpretation of best before and use-by dates. This included their knowledge of which foods maintained quality and safety after the date marking, their knowledge of how to store foods to halt or minimise deterioration and their ability to determine the safety of certain foods.

All interviewees expressed knowledge and skills about determining the status of dairy products like milk and yoghurt. With these foods, the interviewees used date markings to prioritise the order of opening and as an indication for whether to assess edibility by checking the contents' appearance, smell and taste before going ahead and using them. The interviewees often noted that they were not worried about dairy products making them ill and that it was easy to judge their edibility. In tandem with their high turnover, this literal understanding of *best before* date markings, i.e., not necessarily inedible after, indicates one reason for breakfast foods being such popular close-to-date purchases for these individuals.

Contrasting dairy products, far fewer interviewees felt as confident in judging the status of fresh meat, especially chicken, and fish. This was due to their heightened concern that these foods can cause very unpleasant sicknesses. This contrast in competences regarding risk and best before date for dairy products versus fresh meat and fish is nicely exemplified by a snippet from my dialogue with interviewee 14:

14: I can get a bit stressed about chicken that expires the same day, I can feel a bit like, -Is it really ok to eat this?-, I can be like that sometimes.

Interviewer: Ah, and raw chicken has a use-by date not a best before date...

14: Yeah, sure, but in any case I get a bit wary, -Is it though...?-, you wonder a bit, -Is it worth getting sick?-

Interviewer: Do you feel sure that you could determine, if you opened a pack of chicken, that you could make a judgement about if it was ok to eat?

14: I think that's interesting. Usually, when you get a packet of milk out, essentially you just need to smell it, so I'm like [*gestures holding milk packet up to nose*] -Sniff, sniff, no, yuck...-, as such I've got better I think, you can just taste it. [...] I wouldn't risk it

with chicken if it was out of date but with milk I can just pour it in my coffee and see. It's to do with salmonella, that you can get so awfully sick if you eat bad chicken. [...] I wouldn't [trust my senses] with meat and fish, if it's out of date it's out of date.

Interviewee number 9 supposed that the difference between her skills and certainty with determining the edibility of dairy versus meat products might have something to do with her long-term default status as a vegetarian, meaning that even though she buys discounted close-to-date meat, she is not always confident in using it.

Date markings on meat products were used to signal their order of use, just as with dairy products. However, those interviewees unsure of their ability to determine the safety of a meat product, like interviewee 14, abided strictly by date markings for the items' use. In these cases, discounted close-to-date purchases would be used by the best before or use-by date, frozen to prolong their longevity or cooked and then chilled or frozen for later use.

Juxtaposing the uncertainty regarding determining meat or fish's safety illustrated above, a few of the interviewees felt very confident in eating meat that had passed its date marking. Even use-by dates could be interpreted as *best before, often acceptable after*. Interviewee 2 described his reasoning and learning:

2: You have to be careful with, for example chicken, that's what you have to be careful with, fresh meat... fish smells bad if it gets old. It's a bit of a diminishing scale for how dangerous it is to eat. What I've read on this, and trust, is that food tastes bad when it's old, and then after that it can get dangerous. So, essentially, just because it tastes bad it's not certain you'll get ill from it, that takes even longer. So if it doesn't taste bad then you won't get ill from it. So I'm not afraid of getting sick or ill from old food, it's mostly that, if it doesn't taste good then you don't want to eat it either. That's my take on it and my experience too, I don't think I've ever been food poisoned.

The habitual checking of date markings in foods in the home to prioritise order of use was one practice that revealed that once discounted close-to-date products were brought home, the interviewees treated them as comparable to other food purchases. Although that is not to say that close-to-date purchases were not distinguished from other purchases. The interviewees disclosed that the discounting of close-to-date foods by the retailer raised their awareness of the products' time sensitivity, instigating the need for *active* choice when purchasing and *active* use in the household. For some, the discounting of close-to-date foods also highlighted the rescuing aspect of these transactions. These factors led to a heightened awareness of discounted close-to-date items' presence in the household and the impending need to use them up.

Interviewees 8 and 13 described their recognition of discounted close-to-date purchases as active, demanding more attention than non-discounted close-to-date foods in the household. These sentiments were echoed by several other interviewees. Considering any potential differences he saw between these types of purchases, interviewee 8 reasoned along the following lines:

8: No, everything's just food. Although I try to think that discounted close-to-date - that's reduced because the date's about to expire so I usually try to think, -I really need to do something with *that* item.- [...] I made an active choice to buy that, something in its spontaneity...

Interviewer: Oh, like you're more aware?

8: Exactly! More aware!

Interviewee 13 depicted a similar thought process:

Interviewer: How do you reason about what you're going to eat? Can it be that kind of, -I'm hungry for that, I'm going to have that-?

13: No, in that case I'd say that expiry dates steer more, if there's something [discounted close-to-date], to use that. [...] They're prioritised, we're active in using them.

Indeed, some discounted close-to-date purchases represented the interviewees' affording themselves a small luxury, enabling them to make a longed-for meal that otherwise would have been deemed too expensive. Along with the previous quotes from interviewees 8 and 13 about their reasoning between discounted close-to-date purchases and other food purchases, these accounts illustrate how the interviewees garnered greater attachments to discounted close-to-date items compared to other foods.

These examples illustrate that deciding what to eat was often governed by the date marking, as this denoted what to eat up or what to open next. As we will see in the following section, the competences linking deciding what to eat with assessing edibility also dictated *how* certain foods were eaten.

5.2.2 Cooking and eating

Following on from deciding what to eat, the appropriation of discounted close-todate products often appeared to be much the same as for other foods. The mundane nature of a great deal of the discounted close-to-date items acquired by the interviewees meant that these foods often slotted into the routinised breakfast and dinner patterns observed by the interviewees without the need for competences more specific to cooking and eating discounted close-to-date foods. This consequently led to everyday appropriation and appreciation, as interviewee 4 exemplified when we discussed her appropriation of discounted close-to-date bags of salad:

Interviewer: Ok, you were going to have salad with white cabbage but you postpone that or?

4: Exactly, or if it's one of those bags of salad, you can eat salad with any dinner really, so regardless which meal we've planned, salad...you can eat salad with it.

Some appropriation of discounted close-to-date items, however, required a little more effort. In the following examples, more flexibility-laden and knowledge and skills-competences are highlighted. In one example, interviewee 6 had bought a discounted close-to-date cut of meat that she was unfamiliar with and searched online to learn how to use it. As previously highlighted, interviewee 11 had discounted close-to-date cream in the fridge and threw together a dinner that included it, relying on cooking knowledge and skills, rather than turning to a recipe, to intuitively make something she knew would work. In another instance, interviewee 8 spontaneously bought two kilos of mincemeat on the use-by date. At the supermarket, he understood the discounted mincemeat as an opportunity and seized it without knowing precisely how he would put it to use. It was a food he considered as flexible, a potential ingredient of many dishes the family could eat. The mincemeat went into two recipes already within interviewee 8's repertoire - a Bolognese sauce for an upcoming evening meal and a batch of meatballs that went into the freezer, a handy back-up for a family with three young children. The discounted close-to-date mincemeat represents both the point of departure for several meals and stocking up, it also illustrates interviewee 8's flexibility, knowledge and skills in the kitchen.

As seen above with date markings, just as saving food from going to waste motivated the interviewees to purchase discounted close-to-date foods, their own personal efforts to avoid food waste motivated them to gain and utilise specific competences with foods that others may have given up on. This also extended to finding new ways in which to appropriate foods that could be considered as well into the devaluation and divestment moments of consumption. The following examples on this theme were lifted from dialogue that was not restricted to discounted close-to-date foods. I do argue however, that because close-to-date offers are already devalued at the moment of acquisition, they are highly relevant examples nonetheless. Noteworthy however, is that the devaluation belongs to the retailer rather than the consumer. The discounting is a literal economic devaluation that reflects the retailer's understanding of the decreased value that consumers recognise in close-to-date foods.

Regardless of one's competences with date markings, fresh meat and fish products were only discussed in dichotomic terms of still edible or too risky, the latter classification leading directly to disposal. Concerning some other foods however, a clearer timeline accounting for devaluation and divestment was identified, during which milk, vegetables and roast chicken evolved from desirable to functional. Appropriation and appreciation continued, although appropriation became limited, and appreciation was more nuanced.

Interviewee 2 recounted that he used milk that had soured for pancakes and baking, as did interviewee 8 who also affirmed a small hierarchy of uses for a roast chicken. Interviewee 10 described how she would roast carrots that had become

hairy, and other root vegetables, a cooking technique that imparted great flavour and made for excellent soups. Appreciation was subsequently positively impacted by the interviewees' cunning in really exhausting the value from their materials.

Specifically related to eating practices, in interviewee 9's household, her husband, affectionately named 'household piggy', could happily throw together disparate leftovers on one plate, without caring much whether or not the meal components *went together*. Interviewee 9 understood this as an important factor in mitigating the family's food waste. Interviewee 8 also did this quite often and, in addition, would sometimes coordinate a so-called 'five course meal' for his family. This entailed feeding the family of two adults and three children whilst making sure to use up all the leftovers from the fridge, a challenge that often resulted in five quite different plates. The impetus for this was partly their limited fridge space in association with an unwillingness to dispose of the leftovers.

The examples illustrate how the moments of devaluation and divestment can express themselves when it comes to appropriation and appreciation relevant to close-to-date foods. Plausibly, in the instances of pancakes, roast chicken and roast vegetable soup, devaluation can be framed as *revaluation*, as appreciation was by no means diminished and in some cases was enhanced. This level of skill also gave the performances meaning, stemming from a certain satisfaction provided by a competence in using a food with objectively less economic value to deliver perfectly appreciable food whilst at the same time avoiding waste and earning a pat on the back.

5.2.3 Disposal

Many of the competences already highlighted in this section were exercised in practices occurring precisely to avoid disposal. Indeed, the discounted close-to-date item's initial acquisition may have taken place in order to rescue it from waste. In tandem, these factors illustrate an entire food journey which, as far as the interviewee was concerned, was focused on avoiding disposal. That being said, some interviewees did admit to discarding some discounted close-to-date purchases.

Interviewees 8 and 15 purchased discounted boxes of suboptimal vegetables from time to time. Loose vegetables can perhaps not be classed as close-to-date as they are not date marked. Several interviewees concluded however, that they perceived suboptimal fruit and vegetables, on the grounds of being blemished for example, in the same light as close-to-date as this leads to their quality diminishing more rapidly. These boxes are sealed in the supermarket, so the interviewees were not able to assess the contents until coming home. Both interviewee 8 and 15 disclosed that there was always some item that would head straight for the food waste bin. This was regrettable in the sense that throwing away food always is, but the interviewees were not really bothered by it due to the extremely hefty discounting and the fact that that the item's deterioration was not their fault.

Most interviewees remarked that eventual disposal of discounted close-to-date items was neither a lighter experience nor one which occurred to a greater extent compared to the disposal of other foods. For some interviewees, the higher regard ascribed to these products due to the active nature of their acquisition, followed them through to disposal. This could subsequently give rise to greater frustration compared to the disposal of other food products. Interviewee 2 remarked that this probably minimised the likelihood of discounted close-to-date items being wasted.

At odds with the increased annoyance mentioned above, some interviewees acknowledged a process of inner renegotiation during divestment and devaluation, breaking attachments with discounted close-to-date items. This process would manifest itself after the partial use of a discounted close-to-date item, following which a further use-occasion had not been planned for and nor did one materialise. This inner renegotiation justified allowing for the deterioration of the discounted close-to-date food and ameliorated the dissonance caused by its disposal. Interestingly, both interviewees 8 and 13, who proffered the *active* choice-*active* use terminology, expressed this pattern of reasoning:

13: I think [...] in that you feel that you've given it a chance to be eaten up, that does something, -Here's a product on offer, close-to-date, I'm saving it from going to wasteand then it ends up at mine, and so I use it up in most cases but there can be some waste [...] but I think that I'm somehow, I don't have a bad conscience about it, rather it's more like... I've in any case refined it, used some and then...like that, so I think that's not something I actively think about but that the bad conscience is not there, that *something* goes to waste, because I've in any case used as much as possible.

And interviewee 8, reasoning about the differences between wasting unopened vs partially used discounted close-to-date foods:

8: I'd feel stupid because in that I had an idea about that I would rescue this product, and then I didn't after all, I could have just as well not bought it, or let someone else buy it. Whilst if I throw out, no it's rare that we throw food away because it's gone bad because we have such a high turnover. We had a little, apropos that whole chicken. [...] We'd taken maybe 60-70% of it but there was more left to take, we forgot it but well well, it's ok because we got out enough, we thought.

In another display of waste, uncharacteristic of other accounts in this study, interviewee 9 divulged that she routinely wasted the bit of gorgonzola leftover that was not required by her special pizza:

9: It's unfortunately one thing we never eat up, we have the pizza and then there's a little bit left and then... it still feels a bit tough to chuck it but it feels better when you bought it at [discounted close-to-date] and tried to save as much as possible and there's that little little bit left and then you throw it. But then you've saved it one step further at least.

Interviewee 9 also remarked upon this in relation to her feeling a lack of flexibility in her own skills and in the cheese, both of which I have touched on previously. She likened it to the devaluation and divestment of tubs of crème fraiche opened and partially used for a specific recipe and then left wanting for another useoccasion, despite its nagging presence in the fridge.

5.2.4 At home performances in relation to food waste mitigation

This section highlights the home, the site of disposal. In doing so it allows me to relate the findings to the potential for the discounting of close-to-date foods to negatively impact waste generation in the household. The findings reveal three scenarios that represent links between the intervention and food waste at the household level. Firstly, instances of active performances with close-to-date foods, where awareness motivates prompt appropriation, align with the notion that this measure reduces overall waste. In contrast, the acquisition of close-to-date vegetable boxes always led to the direct disposal of some of the contents, plainly illustrating a situation in which the retailer directs waste to the consumer. Lastly, in justifying the partial use and partial wastage of close-to-date offers, the interviewees have revealed a complex scenario in which the division of responsibility for waste generation is less clear.

So far, this chapter has presented the interviewees' food provisioning practices performed in the supermarket discretely from those performed in the home. In practice, consumption of close-to-date foods traverses provisioning in the store and in the home. Therefore, to address the research question, the elements connecting these practices must be analysed.

5.3 The integration of food provisioning practices through the interviewees' performances

This section will bring together the commonalities and dependencies between food provisioning practices, highlighting that the key aspects of their connections lie in the integrative nature of the elements, the Whats, Hows and Whys, of practice.

The interviewees were motivated to consume discounted close-to-date items to spend cautiously and enact their moral values. The findings show that for the (residual) value in these items to be appreciated, the interviewees employed a whole host of competences to avoid food waste and in doing so, actualise the meaning behind their motivations.

Semi-structured or flexible planning allowed for the interviewees to capitalise on good close-to-date deals in the name of stocking up. This relied on a deep understanding of the dynamics of food provisioning in the home including patterns of cooking and eating as well as an awareness of how much space was available in the fridge or freezer. Similarly, exercising flexibility with the scheduling of a meal plan to squeeze in a discounted close-to-date item could demand that the interviewee was able to recall the status of foods already at home, so as not to risk something else becoming waste due to the purchase of a discounted close-to-date item. Another flexibility expressed itself in an openness towards variations on a food product, for example interviewee 1 and his breakfast yoghurt of unspecified brand or flavour, and interviewee 12's shopping lists being comprised merely of categories "meat, fish…". This type of flexibility opened up for potential discounted close-to-date purchases.

In addition to the use of 'flexible' to describe the competences directly above, I have also used it to describe the intersection of material and competence in the recognition of suitable foods. Identifying the material flexibility of discounted close-to-date cream on offer at the supermarket demonstrated interviewee 11's flexibility as a cook, a skill she has learned through being experimental in the kitchen. Shopping for this type of flexibility in foods was also important in interviewee 12's food provisioning. Like interviewee 11, interviewee 12's knowledge and skills from her cooking practice were also indispensable in her planning practice which used very rudimentary lists and involved stocking up opportunistically when suitable discounted close-to-date foods presented themselves.

Currently, typical retailer practice is for date markings to also indicate the last selling date of foods by grocery stores. This is regardless of whether the marking is best before or use-by and is not related to any regulation. The discount applied to a close-to-date food represents a formal devaluation (by the retailer) in relation to the date marking. The interviewees, however, exhibited an understanding that devaluation for them, especially in the case of dairy products, would probably start later. This was often underscored by their knowledge that best before and in some cases use-by, were set within "good margins" (interviewee 5). The discount implemented by the retailer set in motion knowledge that the interviewees had learnt from jobs, family members, media and school classes. This knowledge allowed them to purchase the close-to-date food at a price they considered to represent value for money. Additionally, perhaps most fundamentally to the consumption of discounted close-to-date foods, this knowledge also allowed them to determine for themselves when the item was no longer fit for use, as they did might not rely solely on the date marking at home. This highlights that the explicit devaluation by the retailer is the impetus for the consumers' consumption moments. It follows therefore, that after acquisition, the interviewee's own understandings will dictate a new process of devaluation.

In relation to the competences lifted in this section, a general facilitator to performing in line with motivations was treating food provisioning as sport. For instance, in the store this took the guise of finding solutions that satisfied sometimes conflicting demands (e.g., good food vs cheap food). At home, this manifested in making challenges out of balancing their provisioning practices. For example, the challenge met by interviewee 8 in the using up leftovers in a 'five-course meal'. This was eloquently described by interviewee 7:

Interviewer: You've mentioned a bit about special offers, is that something you utilise as well, not just close-to-date but other deals like 3 for 2, is that something that tempts you?

7: Yes, it's like a sport!

Interviewer: You're not the first to express that it's like a sport. Do you mean that finding these close-to-date offers is also like a sport? That all offers and deals belong under the same umbrella?

7: Yes. Also eating up things at home, that's also a sport.

Interviewer: You're competing against your own values?

7: Yeah, that it will get used up and be enough. During January-February we had -Now we've got to empty our freezer and drawers so we can get in some new things-.

Finally, the implementation of discounting the close-to-date foods by the retailer led to a consciousness in acquisition which was distinct from the subconscious *modus operandi* of running on autopilot associated with conventional shopping. An active discounted close-to-date purchase consequently became a nagging presence once in the home, decreasing the likelihood that it would be wasted. This conscious acquisition was therefore linked to all subsequent moments of consumption, even disposal, in which frustration was often exacerbated by this deeper attachment.

So far, by employing practice theory and the moments of consumption, as described in chapter 3, to analyse my dialogues with the interviewees, I have come some way in explaining the how the consumption of close-to-date foods fits into the interviewees' food provisioning practices. To enhance these findings further, it remains to discuss them in light of the extant literature.

6. Discussion

This thesis posed the research question, how do consumers' everyday food provisioning practices allow for consumption of discounted close-to-date foods? In short, the interviewees' exhibited a great deal of thrift in their food provisioning. This paved the way for discounted close-to-date foods in the supermarket to be interpreted as opportunities to make financially prudent acquisitions, a common objective for planning and shopping in general. In subsequent provisioning practices, thrift was not restricted to close-to-date offers. Rather, close-to-date offers, for the most part, fit into the routinised performances of these thrifty individuals.

The literature review highlighted a complex combination of factors driving and moderating household food waste. In terms of food provisioning, practices important in determining levels of food waste were identified as planning, storage, cooking and the use of leftovers, in association with performances that exhibit uncertainty about storage and date markings and a perceived lack of skills with leftovers (Evans 2011a; Stancu et al. 2016; Falasconi et al. 2019; Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019; Ananda et al. 2022; Tsalis et al. 2024). Studying close-to-date foods as a means of waste reduction, this thesis aims to understand how the performance of food provisioning practices by a group of 15 individuals allowed for their consumption of discounted close-to-date food purchase. In this section, I begin by discussing the findings in the previous chapter in relation to the existing literature. This is followed by a description of the study's perceived limitations.

6.1 Price involvement

Perhaps unsurprisingly, all interviewees exhibited financial considerations in their acquisition of discounted close-to-date foods, in line with much of the extant research (Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2017b; Bech-Larsen et al. 2019; Tsalis 2020; Chang et al. 2024). Value for money was a prevalent theme in the interviewees' purchase decisions, as shown by Tsalis (2020), who also found that deal-prone consumers showed increased purchase interest for SOFs. This may well hold true, although my findings reveal that the interviewees' capacity to capitalise on deals was mediated by material contexts relating to the household. For instance, a deal would be shunned if the interviewee was uncertain that it would be eaten, potentially leading to waste, aligning with Aschemann-Witzell et al. (2017b) who found that consumers consider the potential use of foods prior to purchasing. This could depend on the current amounts of food already at home, which in turn, was related to household storage infrastructure, dictating how much it was plausible to buy. This reflects to the important role of domestic technologies in food shopping routines (Dobernig & Schanes 2019; Marshall 2023).

The display and communication of discounted close-to-date items was commented on by a few of the interviewees. The display of discounted close-todate items in either a dedicated shelf or fridge or in the same place as usual, was reported by Bech-Larsen et al. (2019), although not in relation to consumer preferences. Some interviewees remarked that more should be done to promote these items by the retailer. Communication of prices was important to two interviewees, who thought it was important that it was made clear how much the discount was. Although they did not state a preference to see this as a percentage or a sum of money, it was important in gauging value for money, hence indicating its use in a price-quality schema whereby the original price was understood as a proxy for quality (Tsalis 2020; Chang et al. 2024). Where Tait (2024) found positive effects of environmental credence cues on consumer perceptions of SOFs, Aschemann-Witzel (2018), looking specifically at discounted close-to-date foods, found none. The picture from my findings was slightly more nuanced: Retailer communication that purchasing discounted close-to-date foods was an opportunity to reduce food waste was positively received by the interviewees. This was not however, unquestioned, as some interviewees acknowledged that the intervention allowed the retailer's role and responsibility in the overprovisioning of products to be diminished.

Questions of responsibility between consumers and retailers in the context of food waste and food prices were lifted by Aschemann-Witzell (2022). Ttwo simultaneously existing narratives relating to the responsibilisation of food waste at supermarkets are described. One in which the retailer is unburdened and one in which responsibility is shared. This study's findings express the same sentiments. Several interviewees proffered the first narrative, aligning with neo-liberal ideas, in which the consumers' actions create the demand that retailers react to, hence stripping the retailer of both agency and responsibility. Further, the interviewees also articulated that responsibility is shared among food supply chain (FSC) actors, including consumers. This latter narrative also reflects recent statistics from the Swedish Food Agency (2025), showing that consumers understand all actors across the FSC to bear much responsibility in reducing societal food waste. The interviewees also recognised a tangible societal pressure, driving awareness and engagement in issues of food waste (de Hooge et al. 2017; Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2022), that has played a role in the fact that the phenomenon of discounting close-to-date foods has been able to expand so rapidly in recent years (Aschemann-Witzel 2018; Bech-Larsen et al. 2019). According to the interviewees, prominent placement of a dedicated close-to-date fridge, or displaying discounted close-todate foods in their usual place illustrate fitting ways for retailers to communicate that despite a shorter shelf-life, these items are worth consumer attention. In turn, for consumers like interviewees 3 and 11, showcasing that discounted close-to-date

foods would be understood as retailers shouldering more of their responsibility for societal food waste.

6.2 Assessing edibility and storage

As seen in previous studies, storage infrastructure in the home dictated many aspects of food provisioning. In planning and shopping, the size of or space left in fridges and freezers could limit the volume of food bought and hence how often shopping trips were required (Bava et al. 2008; Dobernig & Schanes 2019; Marshall 2023). In some cases, such limitations were seen as facilitating the consumption of close-to-date offers for the interviewees. For example, planning would be restricted to less days, making rescheduling easier, and the high turnover of a smaller fridge meant that fresh foods were often used up within very few days in any case, reducing the need for longer shelf-lives.

A great deal of dialogue during the interviews was devoted to knowledge and skills relating to determining the quality and safety of foods. The interviewees often used date markings as indicators for order of use and potential risk, the latter especially related to raw meats. Misinterpreting date markings has been identified as a cause of food waste at the household level, potentially exacerbating other drivers such as overprovisioning and improper storage (Priefer et al. 2016; Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019; Ananda et al. 2022). However, this group of individuals exhibited high levels of independence from date markings in assessing the continued edibility of foods. In the case of best before dates on dairy products, this aligns with the latest statistics (Swedish Food Agency 2025). For these products, the interviewees often learned these skills in their youth but picked up on them more as adults. Those who felt confident in assessing the safety of meat and fish beyond the date marking had more often learned from a mix of personal experience and active learning via media or work. These factors reflect previous findings indicating that familiarity with suboptimal foods requires and can strengthen skills and knowledge in this in this practice (de Hooge et al. 2017).

6.3 Discounted close-to-date foods and waste

The findings showed that links between close-to-date offers and waste generation were not always clear cut. The literature review depicted a lack of consensus on potential links between consumer use of offers and discounts and food waste (Falasconi et al. 2019; Giordano et al. 2019; Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2022; Van Lin et al. 2023; Tsalis et al. 2024). My interviews indicated three paths for discounted close-to-date foods that relate to the generation of food waste in the home. Firstly, and for the most part, the interviewees determined that the special context surrounding the acquisition of discounted close-to-date food (the *active* purchase decision), probably led to it being less likely to go to waste. At the store,

the demarcation of these products as requiring rescue symbolised all the reasons the interviewees gave for waste being undesirable, reminding the consumer of the resources and impacts behind the food on the shelves (Dobernig & Schanes 2019). Once at home, the food's presence then nagged the interviewee with its impending need to be eaten. This path implies that discounting close-to-date foods can work to reduce food waste. In contrast, the two other paths that emerged did result in food waste. The consumption of discounted close-to-date vegetable boxes by two interviewees always resulted in the acquisition of some item that was disposed of directly due to it being beyond redemption. In this scenario, the retailer has directed food waste down the FSC, acting irresponsibly with this intervention (Swedish Food Agency et al. 2018). Lastly, the interviewees could partially use a discounted close-to-date food that subsequently lacked another use-occasion, leading to some fraction of the item going to waste (Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019). In this scenario, the retailer's waste is again reduced, while the consumer's waste is increased, however, the picture is more complex than in the first scenario.

The path with vegetable boxes illustrates an obvious lack of diligence on the part of the retailer. In addition, revealing the nuances in the last scenario also highlights questionable ethics. The framing of close-to-date offers as rescuing food from waste facilitates their partial wastage. Compared to other foods, close-to-date foods are bought more cheaply and framed as a rescue. The discount communicates that the food is less valuable while the framing provides the grounds for diminished emotional attachment and reduced frustration at disposal. To conclude, by provoking overprovision and ameliorating dissonance, this scenario also promotes food waste at the household level.

6.4 Motivations of thrift

The interviewees demonstrated various ways in which thrift can be expressed within food provisioning practices. Meaning in the interviewees' performances was suffused with motivations depicted in Holmes' (2018) account of contemporary thrift: financial necessity, conscience and enjoyment. These motivations are extremes and rarely work independently. Just as I have used the concept of following a food journey (Evans 2011a, 2018; Tsalis et al. 2021), Holmes (2018) highlights thrifty behaviour not only in relation to the financial transactions occurring to acquire resources that move *into* the home, but also in terms of how thrift expresses itself via these resources as they move *through* the home in food provisioning practices. As discussed above, in planning and shopping with close-to-date offers, the interviewees were price involved and cautious not to over-purchase, aligning with normative expectations of respectability in how one *should* spend money (Evans 2011b; Holmes 2018). The interviewees also made explicit connections between close-to-date discounts and rescuing food from waste, indicating moral conscience in their reasoning with these purchases. Enjoyment

was also often linked to price involvement, for instance striking a good deal. In addition, pleasure could be derived from the relative convenience offered by the streamlined choice that close-to-date offers delimited, which could also represent a source of inspiration and exploration.

In storing close-to-date foods, the interviewees often acted to extend the period over which they held value, by freezing or cooking, for example. Typifying careful use of resources in alignment with motivations of financial necessity and conscience (Holmes 2018). Stretching out the period of value of close-to-date foods was also be achieved by altering their appropriation in order to really exhaust and properly release the value therein. Again, this frugality exemplifies thrift motivations of financial necessity and conscience.

Storage and value extension as described above were not restricted to discounted close-to-date foods, although they could be vital in allowing for their consumption. The interviewees' management of leftovers was a subsequent value extension practice motivated by thrift ((Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019). This could take the form of financial necessity and moral conscience, exhausting and properly releasing the value of acquisitions, as throwing them away was tantamount to throwing away money and/or a blatant misuse of resources (Stancu et al. 2016; Aschemann-Witzel et al. 2017b; Falasconi et al. 2019). Enjoyment was also a motivation in the use of leftovers. This could present as a manifestation of perceiving food provisioning as a sport, in which one of the challenges is to use everything up. Diligent use of leftovers also reflected notions that it can lead to familial bonding (Cappellini & Parsons 2012). As exemplified by pet names for family members who ate up leftovers that, for various reasons, were considered undesirable (Evans 2012a), and making an event out of a family mealtime for which the goal was to empty the fridge of leftovers.

Despite their consumption of close-to-date offers being clearly characterised by thrift motivations, interviewees were not immune to wasting them. These instances were often typical of examples in the literature in which the fridge acts as a conduit for waste, especially of leftovers, delaying the sometimes inevitable disposal during which time the discomfort of throwing the food away diminishes (Bava et al. 2008; Evans 2011a, 2012a; b; Dobernig & Schanes 2019; Hebrok & Heidenstrøm 2019). These purchases were sometimes connected to price involvement that was more deal-prone than value or price conscious, strengthening clear links between specific price involvement strategies and the different thrift motivations. Value and price consciousness align with motivations of financial necessity and moral conscience, leading to less overall consumption as the value of acquisitions is fully released (Holmes 2018; Tsalis 2020). Deal-proneness however is more strongly linked to enjoyment due to the satisfaction felt in finding a good bargain. This adds value to the acquisition but does not necessarily dictate how or indeed if the value is subsequently appropriated.

6.5 Limitations

6.5.1 Methodological limitations

Engaging in the findings of this thesis requires the consideration of various methodological and external contexts that data collection was subject to. The selfselection and referral sampling methods, for example, could have led to a bias in the findings (Robson & McCartan 2016; Dobernig & Schanes 2019). Despite the intentional avoidance of references to food waste in the recruitment stage, the interviewees readily connected close-to-date offers with food waste issues. This may seem natural due to the nature of the framing of these offers as waste reducing, although it warrants attention all the same. Whilst generalisation is of no interest to this study, it highlights a pre-existing interest in the study's background topic that could tempt assumptions that consumers of these foods in general are more waste conscious than others. In addition, the sample seems to lack representativeness in that it did not show maximum variation in age or income. Plausibly a consequence of the area used for recruitment by flyers, no respondent was under 30 and, apart from in one case, no interviewees were appreciated to be socio-economically vulnerable. These factors were perhaps reflected in the degree of consensus across the group in their reasoning with close-to-date offers, as well as in a sense of saturation that occurred relatively early in the data collection period. Taken together, this implies that a wider recruitment catchment may have added nuance to the study's findings.

A measure of social desirability bias was almost certainly present in the interviews. In particular, this may be important in dialogue pertaining directly to food waste, an issue which, due to a high level of societal awareness, people understand as negative (Tsalis et al. 2024). As a result, individuals tend to both underestimate and under-report their waste. In my constructivist approach, the interviewees' accounts were taken at face value and my attention was directed towards their subjective interpretations of their own everyday lives. As I had no intention of quantifying or comparing the interviewees' waste, or of generalising the findings, this bias is not thought to significantly threaten the validity of this study. However, should the findings inform future research, this aspect requires attention.

Lastly, a word on the current geopolitical instability in relation to its impacts on inflation and consumer adaptations to economic crises. The interviews were conducted during and around a nationally recognised, week-long boycott of the dominating food retail chains in Sweden. The boycott was enacted as a protest against sharply rising food prices (Bryant 2025). As yet it is unclear how many took part in this boycott or whether any effect was felt, nevertheless, this points to a tangibly changing economic situation that was not accounted for in the scope if this study. Whilst all of the interviewees had been consumers of discounted close-to-

date foods for some time, some divulged that effects of the prevailing economic climate had led to intensified interest in such offers as they tried to spend more cautiously in the supermarket. Speculation might lead one to hypothesise that more price conscious consumers ought to turn to discounted close-to-date foods although this was not reflected in the sample.

6.5.2 Theoretical limitations

As a final note for discussion, I reveal a weak point in the theory and propose additions to the moments of consumption that work to enhance their empirical application. Shortcomings in the analytical power of the three As and three Ds were detected in the analysis of the adapted appropriation of *mature* foods, e.g. sour milk, hairy carrots etc., in order that their residual value be fully appreciated. Whilst Evans' (2019) conception of the three Ds as counterparts to Warde's (2014) three As is a helpful heuristic, its simplicity tempts the researcher to understand the moments of consumption as linear and the counterparts as dichotomous. However, the reasoning that led the interviewees to their adaptations clarifies that moments of consumption, save acquisition and disposal, are iterative. In the case of appreciation and its counterpart devaluation, the value of any given food is essentially assessed in terms of its suitability for the task at hand, implicating a total dependence on appropriation. This also indicates that, in terms of suitability for appropriation and appreciation at a given time, food may be assessed several times, before it is used or disposed of. Food's capacity to satisfy the consumer does not therefore simply depreciate with time. Further, that altered appropriation allowing for the use of mature foods results in different but not necessarily diminished appreciation reveals that notions of appropriation vs divestment and appreciation vs devaluation also lack nuance.

I proffer therefore, that the moments of consumption à la Warde (2014) plus Evans (2019), fall short of painting a complete picture. This feels especially pertinent in studying sustainable consumption, which was the impetus for Evans (2019) to highlight the three Ds in the first place. An addition to the 3As and 3Ds framework is therefore warranted, in which *revaluation* and *reappropriation* are accounted for, working to clarify iterations that are not entirely explained by the As or the Ds. I find it both difficult and not particularly useful to separate revaluation and reappropriation, conceiving rather that they act simultaneously and wholly interdependently, in an iterative manner to continually assess the value or usability of food, which depends on contexts beyond that of just freshness. With a view to the study of sustainable consumption, and doubling back to its links to thrift and frugality, these moments illuminate how (sustainable) consumers are wont to exhaust the value of their acquisitions and counter notions of the consumer culture (Evans 2011b; Holmes 2018).

7. Conclusions

Having scrutinised the food provisioning practices of 15 interviewees, I have been able to identify and explain the links between close-to-date offers and the generation of household food waste. On the one hand, close-to-date offers appear to enable the reduction of food waste at the retailer level without generating waste at the household level. This was possible because the interviewees possessed the skills and motivation to use them up. On the other hand, close-to-date discounting, has been shown to both directly and indirectly cause waste at the household level. Direct causes were the sales of inedible food in close-to-date vegetable boxes. Indirect causes were the provocation of overprovisioning in tandem with more fickle attachments, which promoted the partial use and partial wastage of foods.

From my analysis, the consumption of close-to-date offers is understood to be driven by food provisioning practices that are flexible enough in terms of competence and meaning to appropriate and appreciate the material foods. Skills in cooking and independently assessing edibility were fundamental in enabling this consumption, laying the ground for the initial acquisition of what the interviewees understood to be perfectly good foods at better prices. This indicates that consumption of close-to-date offers depends foremost on consumers with distinctive financial and culinary skillsets. This implies that a discrete subset of consumers is relied upon to mitigate retailer actions that result in surplus and suboptimality. In effect, close-to-date consumption is a niche, accessible mainly to those already equipped in thrifty management of food provisioning.

Interestingly, speaking with these individuals brought about the feeling of being privy to insider knowledge: They knew that the general consumer assumption upon which the intervention is based, that quality and safety deteriorates as the best before date approaches, was at most a half truth. The interviewees demonstrated a shared understanding that, for them, the real value of close-to-date foods stretched far beyond that communicated by the implementation of discounts. However, just as this intervention highlighted value for money in the eyes of the interviewees, it follows that widespread negative associations made between date markings and quality and safety are reinforced. By formally devaluing close-to-date foods, such associations are confirmed, cementing misunderstandings. Food retailers wield immense power over food supply chains and this intervention acts in direct conflict with attempts to educate consumers and rectify their misunderstandings.

The intervention is essentially unchanged since its initiation as a way for retailers to mitigate their financial losses in the face of rising popularity of perishable goods. Legitimised by the reframing as food waste mitigation, consumer acceptance for the practice has grown substantially. However, its economic foundations do not address the root cause of the problem, treating instead the symptoms of consumers' inaccurate assumptions. Taken together, this begs the question: should retailers be doing more to affect changes in food waste behaviour at a systemic level?

7.1 Implications

Firstly, it feels prudent to address the question that closed the previous section. Interventions aimed at rectifying false assumptions surrounding date markings are not addressed within the scope this study. However, as understanding and acting on the connotations of date markings appears to be highly contextual, a multipronged effort is required to tackle misunderstandings of date markings. This must include attending to the myriad ways consumers learn how to appropriate food and, perhaps most importantly, how they appreciate the value of food.

Future research must enhance this work. To gain a more comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon of close-to-date offers, a mixed methods approach should use the findings of this study to inform research design. Although in doing so, caution should be used to avoid skewing design towards consumers represented in the sample recruited in the current study. One important step is to describe the population of consumers of close-to-date offers using a survey. This would allow for the identification of consumer groups whose insights might not be accounted for here and should inform future recruitment for qualitative studies in this field.

This study has shown that the consumers of close-to-date offers can hold expertise that are key to recognising and exhausting the inherent value of food. This indicates that insights into the food provisioning performances of these consumers ought to inform interventions aimed at encouraging more sustainable consumption of food. However, the development and exhibition of these expertise is contextually dependent. Enhancing the findings of this study to facilitate more sustainable consumption relies therefore, on explaining more thoroughly the contexts which nurture and hinder the consumption of close-to-date offers.

Lastly, depicting this intervention as a purely economic measure that has merely been reframed highlights its lack of suitability as a promotor of social and ecological sustainability. This should encourage policymakers to rethink their recommendation of this intervention and to focus instead on guidelines and regulation that force food retailers to use their substantial power more pro-actively.

References

Alexander, P., Brown, C., Arneth, A., Finnigan, J., Moran, D. & Rounsevell, M.D.A. (2017). Losses, inefficiencies and waste in the global food system. *Agricultural Systems*, 153, 190–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2017.01.014

ALLEA, A.E.A. (2023). The European Code of Conduct for Research Integrity. ALLEA - All European Academies. https://doi.org/10.26356/ECoC [2025-04-07]

- Amr Yassin, C. & Soares, A.M. (2021). Buy now before it expires: a study of expiration date-based pricing. *International journal of retail & distribution* management, 49 (4), 514–530. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-10-2019-0328
- Ananda, J., Gayana Karunasena, G. & Pearson, D. (2022). Identifying interventions to reduce household food waste based on food categories. *Food Policy*, 111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2022.102324
- Aschemann-Witzel, J. (2018). Consumer perception and preference for suboptimal food under the emerging practice of expiration date based pricing in supermarkets. *Food quality and preference*, 63, 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2017.08.007
- Aschemann-Witzel, J., De Hooge, I.E., Rohm, H., Normann, A., Bossle, M.B., Grønhøj, A. & Oostindjer, M. (2017a). Key characteristics and success factors of supply chain initiatives tackling consumer-related food waste – A multiple case study. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 155, 33–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.11.173
- Aschemann-Witzel, J., Jensen, J.H., Jensen, M.H. & Kulikovskaja, V. (2017b). Consumer behaviour towards price-reduced suboptimal foods in the supermarket and the relation to food waste in households. *APPETITE*, 116, 246–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.05.013
- Aschemann-Witzel, J., Randers, L. & Pedersen, S. (2022). Retail or consumer responsibility?-Reflections on food waste and food prices among dealprone consumers and market actors. BUSINESS STRATEGY AND THE ENVIRONMENT, 32 (4), 1513–1528. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.3202
- Bååth, J. (2022). How alternative foods become affordable: The co-construction of economic value on a direct-to-customer market. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 94, 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2022.05.017
- Bava, C.M., Jaeger, S.R. & Park, J. (2008). Constraints upon food provisioning practices in 'busy' women's lives: Trade-offs which demand convenience. *Appetite*, 50 (2–3), 486–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2007.10.005
- Bech-Larsen, T., Ascheman-Witzel, J. & Kulikovskaja, V. (2019). Re-distribution and promotion practices for suboptimal foods – commercial and social initiatives for the reduction of food waste. *Society and business review*, 14 (2), 186–199. https://doi.org/10.1108/SBR-11-2017-0094
- Bernstad Saraiva Schott, A. & Andersson, T. (2015). Food waste minimization from a life-cycle perspective. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 147, 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.07.048
- Bryant, M. (2025). Swedish shoppers boycott supermarkets over 'runaway' food prices. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2025/mar/25/swedish-shoppersboycott-supermarkets-food-prices-rise [2025-06-07]
- Bucholtz, M. (2000). The politics of transcription. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 32 (10), 1439–1465. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-2166(99)00094-6

- Cappellini, B. & Parsons, E. (2012). Practising Thrift at Dinnertime: Mealtime Leftovers, Sacrifice and Family Membership. *The Sociological Review*, 60 (2 suppl), 121–134. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-954X.12041
- Chang, H.-H., Lu, L.-C. & Kuo, T.-C. (2024). Are discounts useful in promoting suboptimal foods for sustainable consumption and production? The interaction effects of original prices, discount presentation modes, and product types. JOURNAL OF RETAILING AND CONSUMER SERVICES, 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2024.103881
- Cicatiello, C., Secondi, L. & Principato, L. (2019). Investigating Consumers' Perception of Discounted Suboptimal Products at Retail Stores. *Resources*, 8 (3), 129. https://doi.org/10.3390/resources8030129
- Comber, R., Hoonhout, J., Van Halteren, A., Moynihan, P. & Olivier, P. (2013). Food practices as situated action: exploring and designing for everyday food practices with households. *Proceedings of CHI '13: CHI Conference* on Human Factors in Computing Systems, Paris France, April 27 2013. 2457–2466. ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/2470654.2481340
- Corsini, F., Laurenti, R., Meinherz, F., Appio, F.P. & Mora, L. (2019). The Advent of Practice Theories in Research on Sustainable Consumption: Past, Current and Future Directions of the Field. *Sustainability*, 11 (2), 341. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11020341
- Crippa, M., Solazzo, E., Guizzardi, D., Monforti-Ferrario, F., Tubiello, F.N. & Leip, A. (2021). Food systems are responsible for a third of global anthropogenic GHG emissions. *Nature Food*, 2 (3), 198–209. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-021-00225-9
- D'Amato, A., Goeschl, T., Lorè, L. & Zoli, M. (2023). True to type? EU-style date marking and the valuation of perishable food. *Food policy*, 114, 102381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2022.102381
- Davidson, C. (2009). Transcription: Imperatives for Qualitative Research. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 8 (2), 35–52. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800206
- Dobernig, K. & Schanes, K. (2019). Domestic spaces and beyond: Consumer food waste in the context of shopping and storing routines. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 43 (5), 480–489. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12527
- Evans, D. (2011a). Blaming the consumer once again: the social and material contexts of everyday food waste practices in some English households. *Critical Public Health*, 21 (4), 429–440. https://doi.org/10.1080/09581596.2011.608797
- Evans, D. (2011b). Thrifty, green or frugal: Reflections on sustainable consumption in a changing economic climate. *Geoforum*, 42 (5), 550–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2011.03.008
- Evans, D. (2012a). Beyond the Throwaway Society: Ordinary Domestic Practice and a Sociological Approach to Household Food Waste. *Sociology*, 46 (1), 41–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038511416150
- Evans, D. (2012b). Binning, Gifting and Recovery: The Conduits of Disposal in Household Food Consumption. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 30 (6), 1123–1137. https://doi.org/10.1068/d22210
- Evans, D.M. (2018). Rethinking material cultures of sustainability: Commodity consumption, cultural biographies and following the thing. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 43 (1), 110–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/tran.12206
- Evans, D.M. (2019). What is consumption, where has it been going, and does it still matter? *The Sociological Review*, 67 (3), 499–517. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038026118764028

- Falasconi, L., Cicatiello, C., Franco, S., Segrè, A., Setti, M. & Vittuari, M. (2019). Such a Shame! A Study on Self-Perception of Household Food Waste. Sustainability, 11 (1), 270. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11010270
- *FAOSTAT* (n.d.a). https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FBS [2024-05-02]
- FAOSTAT (n.d.b). Suite of Food Security Indicators. FAOSTAT. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FS [2025-03-13]
- Farr-Wharton, G., Foth, M. & Choi, J.H. (2014). Identifying factors that promote consumer behaviours causing expired domestic food waste. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 13 (6), 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1488
- Foley, J.A., Ramankutty, N., Brauman, K.A., Cassidy, E.S., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Mueller, N.D., O'Connell, C., Ray, D.K., West, P.C., Balzer, C., Bennett, E.M., Carpenter, S.R., Hill, J., Monfreda, C., Polasky, S., Rockström, J., Sheehan, J., Siebert, S., Tilman, D. & Zaks, D.P.M. (2011). Solutions for a cultivated planet. *Nature*, 478 (7369), 337–342. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10452
- Garnett, T. (2011). Where are the best opportunities for reducing greenhouse gas emissions in the food system (including the food chain)? *Food Policy*, 36, S23–S32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.10.010
- Garrone, P., Melacini, M. & Perego, A. (2014). Opening the black box of food waste reduction. *Food Policy*, 46, 129–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.03.014
- Gibbs, G. (2012). *Analyzing qualitative data*. Repr. SAGE. (The Sage qualitative research kit / ed. by Uwe Flick; 6)
- Giordano, C., Alboni, F., Cicatiello, C. & Falasconi, L. (2019). Do discounted food products end up in the bin? An investigation into the link between deal-prone shopping behaviour and quantities of household food waste. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 43 (2), 199–209. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12499
- Graham-Rowe, E., Jessop, D.C. & Sparks, P. (2014). Identifying motivations and barriers to minimising household food waste. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 84, 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2013.12.005
- Granot, E., Brashear, T.G. & Cesar Motta, P. (2012). A structural guide to indepth interviewing in business and industrial marketing research.
 Brashear, T. (ed.) (Brashear, T., ed.) *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 27 (7), 547–553. https://doi.org/10.1108/08858621211257310
- Marketing, 27 (7), 547–553. https://doi.org/10.1108/08858621211257310 Halkier, B. & Jensen, I. (2011). Methodological challenges in using practice theory in consumption research. Examples from a study on handling nutritional contestations of food consumption. *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 11 (1), 101–123. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540510391365
- Halloran, A., Clement, J., Kornum, N., Bucatariu, C. & Magid, J. (2014). Addressing food waste reduction in Denmark. *Food Policy*, 49, 294–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.09.005
- Hebrok, M. & Boks, C. (2017). Household food waste: Drivers and potential intervention points for design – An extensive review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 151, 380–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.069
- Hebrok, M. & Heidenstrøm, N. (2019). Contextualising food waste prevention -Decisive moments within everyday practices. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 210, 1435–1448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.11.141
- Holmes, H. (2018). Unpicking contemporary thrift: Getting on and getting by in everyday life. *The Sociological Review*, 67 (1), 126–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038026118797837
- Holstein, J. & Gubrium, J. (1995). *The Active Interview*. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412986120
- de Hooge, I.E., Oostindjer, M., Aschemann-Witzel, J., Normann, A., Loose, S.M. & Almli, V.L. (2017). This apple is too ugly for me! Consumer

preferences for suboptimal food products in the supermarket and at home. FOOD QUALITY AND PREFERENCE, 56, 80–92.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.09.012
- IPCC, I.P.O.C.C. (2019). Climate Change and Land: IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems. 1. ed Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157988
- Marshall, M. (2023). Prepared for a crisis and the unexpected: managing everyday eventualities through food storage practices. *Food, Culture & Society*, 26 (2), 305–326. https://doi.org/10.1080/15528014.2021.1967643
- Papargyropoulou, E., Lozano, R., K. Steinberger, J., Wright, N. & Ujang, Z.B. (2014). The food waste hierarchy as a framework for the management of food surplus and food waste. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 76, 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.04.020
- Parfitt, J., Barthel, M. & Macnaughton, S. (2010). Food waste within food supply chains: quantification and potential for change to 2050. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 365 (1554), 3065–3081. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0126
- Priefer, C., Jörissen, J. & Bräutigam, K.-R. (2016). Food waste prevention in Europe – A cause-driven approach to identify the most relevant leverage points for action. *Resources, conservation and recycling*, 109, 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.03.004
- Reckwitz, A. (2002). Toward a Theory of Social Practices: A Development in Culturalist Theorizing. *European Journal of Social Theory*, 5 (2), 243– 263. https://doi.org/10.1177/13684310222225432
- Reynolds, C., Goucher, L., Quested, T., Bromley, S., Gillick, S., Wells, V.K., Evans, D., Koh, L., Carlsson Kanyama, A., Katzeff, C., Svenfelt, Å. & Jackson, P. (2019). Review: Consumption-stage food waste reduction interventions – What works and how to design better interventions. *Food Policy*, 83, 7–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2019.01.009
- Richardson, K., Steffen, W., Lucht, W., Bendtsen, J., Cornell, S.E., Donges, J.F., Drüke, M., Fetzer, I., Bala, G., Von Bloh, W., Feulner, G., Fiedler, S., Gerten, D., Gleeson, T., Hofmann, M., Huiskamp, W., Kummu, M., Mohan, C., Nogués-Bravo, D., Petri, S., Porkka, M., Rahmstorf, S., Schaphoff, S., Thonicke, K., Tobian, A., Virkki, V., Wang-Erlandsson, L., Weber, L. & Rockström, J. (2023). Earth beyond six of nine planetary boundaries. *Science Advances*, 9 (37), eadh2458. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.adh2458
- Robson, C. & McCartan, K. (2016). Real world research: a resource for users of social research methods in applied settings. Fourth Edition. Wiley.
- Rosenzweig, C., Mbow, C., Barioni, L.G., Benton, T.G., Herrero, M., Krishnapillai, M., Liwenga, E.T., Pradhan, P., Rivera-Ferre, M.G., Sapkota, T., Tubiello, F.N., Xu, Y., Mencos Contreras, E. & Portugal-Pereira, J. (2020). Climate change responses benefit from a global food system approach. *Nature Food*, 1 (2), 94–97. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-020-0031-z
- Rosenzweig, C., N Tubiello, F., Sandalow, D., Benoit, P. & N Hayek, M. (2021). Finding and fixing food system emissions: the double helix of science and policy. *Environmental Research Letters*, 16 (6), 061002. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac0134

Saldaña, J. (2013). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. 2nd ed. SAGE.

Schatzki, T.R. (ed.) (2001). The practice turn in contemporary theory. Routledge.

Schatzki, T.R. (2013). The Edge of Change On the Emergence, Persistence, and Dissolution of Practices. In: Shove, E. & Spurling, N. (eds.) Sustainable

Practices: Social Theory and Climate Change. Taylor & Francis Group. doi: 10.4324/9780203071052

- Schubert, L. (2008). Household Food Strategies and the Reframing of Ways of Understanding Dietary Practices. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, 47 (3), 254–279. https://doi.org/10.1080/03670240701781879
- Setti, M., Banchelli, F., Falasconi, L., Segrè, A. & Vittuari, M. (2018). Consumers' food cycle and household waste. When behaviors matter. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 185, 694–706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.03.024
- Shove, E. (2010). Beyond the ABC: Climate Change Policy and Theories of Social Change. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 42 (6), 1273–1285. https://doi.org/10.1068/a42282
- Shove, E., Pantzar, M. & Watson, M. (2012). *The dynamics of social practice: everyday life and how it changes.* SAGE Publications.
- Stancu, V., Haugaard, P. & Lähteenmäki, L. (2016). Determinants of consumer food waste behaviour: Two routes to food waste. *Appetite*, 96, 7–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.08.025
- Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2024a). Livsmedelsavfall i Sverige [Food waste in Sweden]. Naturvårdsverket. https://www.naturvardsverket.se/data-och-statistik/avfall/avfall-mat/ [2025-03-14]
- Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2024b). Matsvinnet minskar inte, visar Naturvårdsverkets statistik [Food waste is not decreasing, according to the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency's statistics]. Naturvårdsverket. https://www.naturvardsverket.se/omoss/aktuellt/nyheter-och-pressmeddelanden/2024/december/matsvinnetminskar-inte/ [2025-03-13]
- Swedish Food Agency (2025). *Matsvinn i hemmet 2024 [Food waste in the home 2024]*.

https://www.livsmedelsverket.se/globalassets/publikationsdatabas/rapporter/2025/livsmedelsverkets-konsumentundersokning-matsvinn-2024.pdf

- Swedish Food Agency, Swedish Board of Agriculture & Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2018). Fler gör mer! Handlingsplan för minskat matsvinn 2030 [Action plan for reduced avoidable food waste 2030]
- Swedish Food Agency, Swedish Board of Agriculture & Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2025). Fler gör mer! Handlingsplan för minskat matsvinn 2030: Uppdaterad februari 2025 [Action plan for reduced avoidable food waste 2030: Updated February 2025]
- TÆNK Forbrugerrådet, Stop Spild af Mad, & Landbrug Fødevare (2012). Undersøgelse af danskernes madspildsadfærd, forandringspotentialer og anbefaling til tiltag [Study of food waste behaviour in Denmark, potential for change and recommendations for action]. https://www.stopspildafmad.dk/madspildsrapport.pdf
- Tait, P., Saunders, C., Dalziel, P., Rutherford, P., Driver, T. & Guenther, M. (2024). How much less? Estimating price discounts for suboptimal food with environmental and social credence attributes. *APPLIED ECONOMICS*, 56 (13), 1581–1594. https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2023.2176460
- Tsalis, G. (2020). What's the deal? Consumer price involvement and the intention to purchase suboptimal foods. A cross-national study. *FOOD QUALITY* AND PREFERENCE, 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2019.103747
- Tsalis, G., Boutrup Jensen, B. & Aschemann-Witzel, J. (2024). The relationship between retail price promotions and household-level food waste: Busting the myth with behavioural data? *Waste Management*, 173, 29–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2023.10.032

- Tsalis, G., Jensen, B.B., Wakeman, S.W. & Aschemann-Witzel, J. (2021). Promoting Food for the Trash Bin? A Review of the Literature on Retail Price Promotions and Household-Level Food Waste. *Sustainability*, 13 (7), 4018. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13074018
- Tsiros, M. & Heilman, C.M. (2005). The Effect of Expiration Dates and Perceived Risk on Purchasing Behavior in Grocery Store Perishable Categories. *Journal of Marketing*, 69 (2), 114–129. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.69.2.114.60762
- UN (2015). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. UN.
- UN (2024). The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024. UN. https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2024/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf [2025-02-28]
- UNEP (2024). Food Waste Index Report 2024
- Van Lin, A., Aydinli, A., Bertini, M., Van Herpen, E. & Von Schuckmann, J. (2023). Does Cash Really Mean Trash? An Empirical Investigation into the Effect of Retailer Price Promotions on Household Food Waste. Schmitt, B.H. & Thomas, M. (eds) (Schmitt, B. H. & Thomas, M., eds) *Journal of Consumer Research*, 50 (4), 663–682. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucad018
- Warde, A. (2005). Consumption and Theories of Practice. *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 5 (2), 131–153. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540505053090
- Warde, A. (2014). After taste: Culture, consumption and theories of practice. Journal of Consumer Culture, 14 (3), 279–303. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540514547828
- Warde, A., Welch, D. & Paddock, J. (2017). Studying consumption through the lens of practice: Routledge Handbook on Consumption. In: In Keller, M., Halkier, B., Wilska, T.-A. & Truninger, M. (Eds.), Handbook on Consumption. Routledge. https://research.manchester.ac.uk/en/publications/studying-consumption-
- through-the-lens-of-practice-routledge-handb [2025-02-20]
- Willett, W., Rockström, J., Loken, B., Springmann, M., Lang, T., Vermeulen, S., Garnett, T., Tilman, D., DeClerck, F., Wood, A., Jonell, M., Clark, M., Gordon, L.J., Fanzo, J., Hawkes, C., Zurayk, R., Rivera, J.A., De Vries, W., Majele Sibanda, L., Afshin, A., Chaudhary, A., Herrero, M., Agustina, R., Branca, F., Lartey, A., Fan, S., Crona, B., Fox, E., Bignet, V., Troell, M., Lindahl, T., Singh, S., Cornell, S.E., Srinath Reddy, K., Narain, S., Nishtar, S. & Murray, C.J.L. (2019). Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT–Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. *The Lancet*, 393 (10170), 447–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4

Popular science summary

This study looks at foods that are discounted because they are *close-to-date*, i.e., they are approaching their best before or use-by date. Close-to-date foods are often avoided by customers because they associate date markings with both quality and safety, which in turn leads to food waste.

Food waste is problematic for a range of reasons. Firstly, the production and distribution of food uses vast quantities precious natural resources and demands a lot of man-power. Wasting food means that these resources have been unnecessarily spent. In addition, emissions from these activities contribute substantially to climate change and cause environmental destruction which is regrettable, even in terms of the food that we eat up. Lastly, whilst many can afford to throw away food, doing so displays a lack of regard for the billions of people across the world that do not have adequate access to food.

Discounting close-to-date foods is a way for retailers to increase the likelihood that they will be sold. In response to the need to reduce food waste, close-to-date offers are now widely available in Swedish supermarkets. According to national guidelines, this must not lead to more food waste from the people buying close-to-date offers. Despite this, there is not a lot of research into the effects of discounting close-to-date foods on household food waste.

This study aimed to understand how people use close-to-date offers in their everyday lives and whether it might lead to food waste. To do this, I interviewed 15 people who all bought discounted close-to-date foods and asked them about their *food provisioning*, e.g., shopping, cooking and eating, both in general and when they used close-to-date offers.

The interviewees reported multiple reasons for buying discounted close-to-date foods: they were attracted by the discounts and were triggered to save money; they were motivated to rescue food and reduce food waste; and they could get a sense of satisfaction and pleasure from the whole process.

Throughout their food provisioning with close-to-date offers, the interviewees used mostly the same knowledge and skills that they used with other foods. This was characterised by a tendency to be mindful of using what they had bought and employing specific skills in order to extend the period of value of their purchases. These factors are thought to enable the use of close-to-date offers by the interviewees and other consumers like them. At the same time, this implies that individuals that do not possess the same knowledge and skills are unable to exploit close-to-date offers.

The study concludes that while some waste reduction may occur due to discounting close-to-date foods, this measure will not contribute to behavioural change.

Appendix 1 – Recruitment flyer



Appendix 2 – Interview guide

*Clarify DISCOUNTED close-to-date - NOT special offers or BOGOFs etc...

Use examples - return to examples What about F&V in this context?

Breakfast? MUNDANE/SYMBOLIC Background info: living situation, social life, work, hobbies, interests. Regular week.

Planning? How? Get an understanding of how good at cooking food - use recipes/freestyle...? How often food shop? Where?

What's important when food shopping? (e.g., price, quality, organic, Swedish, seasonal...)
Other offers and discounts used?
Changes during life (how plan, shop, cook, important factors?) Any constants?
Important people throughout?
SHOPPING
Where buy EDBP? Good knowledge about where it's located?

EDBP related to planning.

Reasoning in the store - compare with for other food. What kinds of foods bought with EDBP? What food never bought EDBP? What understanding of expiry dates?

What understanding of EDBP in store? What does it mean - generally, to them? Motivation? Has that always been the case? Awareness and understanding of why others buy EDBP?

Understanding/thoughts about food waste at retail level? How does it affect behaviour? **HOME** How store EDBP? EXAMPLE - was there a plan at purchase? Stuck to the plan? Always the case? Example of another outcome? Reasoning in the home? Compare with other/full price food - difference? Are skills/knowledge challenged?

How determine still ok/gone off? How learnt? Understanding of EDBP in the home - motivation? What does it mean? Same as in store? Has that always been the case? **Waste** Largest cause of food waste at home? How dispose of food at home? Does EDBP food go to waste? Feelings? Meaning? Compare with wasting other food - EXAMPLE? Feelings? Meaning?

Understanding/thoughts about food wastein the home? How does it affect behaviour?

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU can be published online. As a student you own the copyright to your work and in such cases, you need to approve the publication. In connection with your approval of publication, SLU will process your personal data (name) to make the work searchable on the internet. You can revoke your consent at any time by contacting the library.

Even if you choose not to publish the work or if you revoke your approval, the thesis will be archived digitally according to archive legislation.

You will find links to SLU's publication agreement and SLU's processing of personal data and your rights on this page:

• <u>https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318</u>

 \boxtimes YES, I, Rebecca M. Martin, have read and agree to the agreement for publication and the personal data processing that takes place in connection with this

 \Box NO, I/we do not give my/our permission to publish the full text of this work. However, the work will be uploaded for archiving and the metadata and summary will be visible and searchable.